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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the
registrant has duly caused this Report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned,
thereunto duly authorized.

NETEASE.COM, INC.

i<l

Name:Mr. Ted Sun
Title: Acting Chief Executive Officer

By:

Date: May 2, 2002
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Exhibit 99.1
NetEase.com, Inc.

15th Floor, North Tower
Beijing Kerry Centre
No. 1 Guang Hua Road, Chao Yang District
Beijing, People’s Republic of China 100020

NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS
To Be Held on June 6, 2002

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the annual general meeting of shareholders of NetEase.com,
Inc. will be held on June 6, 2002 at 10:00 a.m., Beijing time, at our principal executive offices, 15th
Floor, North Tower, Beijing Kerry Centre, No. 1 Guang Hua Road, Chao Yang District, Beijing,
People’s Republic of China, for the following purposes:

1. To re-elect seven directors to serve for the ensuing year and until their successors are
elected and duly qualified.

2. To re-appoint Arthur Andersen » Hua Qiang as independent auditors of NetEase.com, Inc.
for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2002.

3. To transact such other business as may properly come before the meeting or any
adjournment or postponement thereof.

The foregoing items of business are more fully described in the proxy statement which is
attached and made a part of this notice.

Holders of record of our ordinary shares or American Depositary Shares representing those
shares at the close of business on April 15, 2002 are entitled to vote at the annual general meeting.

FOR THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Ted Sun

Member of the Board of Directors and
Acting Chief Executive Officer

Beijing, China
April 30, 2002

YOUR VOTE IS IMPORTANT

To ensure your representation at the annual general meeting, you are urged to mark, sign, date and
return the enclosed proxy as promptly as possible in the accompanying envelope. If you attend the
meeting, you may vote in person even if you returned a proxy.
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NETEASE.COM, INC.

PROXY STATEMENT

General

We are soliciting the enclosed proxy on behalf of our board of directors for use at the annual
general meeting of shareholders to be held on June 6, 2002 at 10:00 a.m., Beijing time, or at any
adjournment or postponement thereof. The annual general meeting will be held at our principal executive
offices, 15th Floor, North Tower, Beijing Kerry Centre, No. 1 Guang Hua Road, Chao Yang District,
Beijing, People’s Republic of China.

This proxy statement and the form of proxy are first being mailed to shareholders on or about May
1, 2002.

Revocability of Proxies

Any proxy given pursuant to this solicitation may be revoked by the person giving it at any time
before its use by delivering to us (to the attention of Mr. Denny Lee, our Chief Financial Officer and a
director) a written notice of revocation or a duly executed proxy bearing a later date or by attending the
meeting and voting in person.

Record Date, Share Ownership and Quorum

Shareholders of record at the close of business on April 15, 2002 are entitled to vote at the annual
general meeting. Holders of American Depositary Shares, known as ADSs, representing our ordinary
shares are considered our shareholders for purposes of this determination. At the record date, 3,034,241,863
of our ordinary shares, par value US$0.0001 per share, were issued and outstanding, of which
approximately 647,620,400 were represented by ADSs. The presence of at least two shareholders in person
or by proxy will constitute a quorum for the transaction of business at the annual general meeting; provided,
however, that in no case shall such quorum represent less than 33 1/3% of our outstanding ordinary shares.

Voting and Solicitation

Each share outstanding on the record date is entitled to one vote. Voting at the annual general
meeting will be by a show of hands unless the chairman of the meeting or any shareholder present in person
or by proxy demands that a poll be taken.

The costs of soliciting proxies will be borne by our company. Proxies may be solicited by certain
of our directors, officers and regular employees, without additional compensation, in person or by telephone
or telegram. Copies of solicitation materials will be furnished to banks, brokerage houses, fiduciaries and
custodians holding in their names shares of our common stock or ADSs beneficially owned by others to
forward to those beneficial owners. We may reimburse persons representing beneficial owners of shares of
common stock and ADSs for their costs of forwarding solicitation materials to those beneficial owners.
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When proxies are properly dated, executed and returned, the shares they represent will be voted at
the annual general meeting in accordance with the instructions of the shareholder. If no specific instructions
are given, the shares will be voted FOR proposals 1 and 2 and in the proxy holder’s discretion as to other
matters that may properly come before the annual general meeting. Abstentions are included in the
determination of the number of shares present and voting but are not counted as votes for or against a
proposal. Broker non-votes and depositary non-votes will not be counted towards a quorum or for any
purpose in determining whether the proposal is approved.

American Depositary Shares

The Bank of New York, as depositary of the ADSs, has advised us that it intends to mail to all
owners of ADSs this proxy statement and the accompanying notice of annual general meeting. Upon the
written request of an owner of record of ADSs, The Bank of New York will endeavor, to the extent
practicable, to vote or cause to be voted the amount of shares represented by the ADSs, evidenced by
American Depositary Receipts related to those ADSs, in accordance with the instructions set forth in such
request. The Bank of New York has advised us that it will not vote or attempt to exercise the right to vote
other than in accordance with those instructions. As the holder of record for all the shares represented by
the ADSs, only The Bank of New York may vote those shares at the annual general meeting.

The Bank of New York and its agents are not responsible if they fail to carry out your voting
instructions or for the manner in which they carry out your voting instructions. This means that you may
not be able to exercise your right to vote at the annual general meeting and there may be nothing you can do
if your shares are not voted as you requested. :

Deadline for Shareholder Proposals

Proposals which our shareholders wish to be considered for inclusion in our proxy statement and
proxy card for the 2003 annual general meeting must be received by December 31, 2002 at 15th Floor,
North Tower, Beijing Kerry Centre, No. 1 Guang Hua Road, Chao Yang District, Beijing, People’s
Republic of China and must comply with the requirements of Rule 14a-8 under the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended. The submission of a proposal does not assure that it will be included in the
proxy statement or the proxy card. If Denny Lee, our Chief Financial Officer and a director, is not
notified of a shareholder proposal by March 17, 2003, then the proxies held by our management provide

discretionary authority to vote against such shareholder proposal, even though such shareholder proposal
1s not discussed in the proxy statement.
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PROPOSAL 1
ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

The board of directors has nominated all of our seven current directors for re-election at the 2002
annual general meeting. Each director to be elected will hold office until the next annual general meeting
of shareholders and until such director’s successor is elected and is duly qualified, or until such director’s
earlier death, bankruptcy, insanity, resignation or removal. All of the nominees, other than John Lau and
Denny Lee, have been previously elected by our shareholders. Our Articles of Association presently
authorize up to ten board positions. Proxies cannot, however, be voted for a greater number of persons
than the number of nominees named in this proxy statement.

Shares represented by executed proxies will be voted, if authority to do so is not withheld, for the
election of the seven nominees named below. The board has no reason to believe that each of the
nominees named below will be unable or unwilling to serve as a director if elected. In the event that any
nominee should be unavailable for election as a result of an unexpected occurrence, such shares will be
voted for the election of such substitute nominee as management may propose.

The names of the nominees, as well as our other current executive officer, their ages as of April
15, 2002 and the principal positions with NetEase held by them are as follows:

Name Age Position
William Lei Ding 30  Director and Chief Architect
Ted Sun 34 Director and Acting Chief Executive Officer
Denny Lee 34 Director and Chief Financial Officer
Mary Nee (1) : 40  Director
Kathy Xin Xu (1) 35  Director
Michael Sui Bau Tong (1) - 30 = Director
John Lau 39  Director
Jack L. Xu 34  Chief Technology Officer

(1) Member of the compensation committee and the audit committee. Ms. Nee has informed us that she
intends to resign from the compensation committee and audit committee in the near future, and the board
has not yet determined who will be nominated to fill these vacancies created by her resignation.

Directors Nominated for Election at the Annual General Meeting

William Lei Ding, our founder, has served as a director since July 1999 and as our Chief
Architect since March 2001. From June 2001 until September 2001, Mr. Ding served as our acting Chief"
Executive Officer and acting Chief Operating Officer following King Lai's and Susan Chen's resignations
from those respective positions. Mr. Ding also stepped down as Chairman of the Board of Directors in
September 2001 (the company currently has no permanently appointed Chairman). From July 1999 until
March 2001, Mr. Ding served as Co-Chief Technology Officer, and from July 1999 until April 2000, he
also served as our interim Chief Executive Officer. Mr. Ding established Guangzhou Netease, our
affiliate, in May 1997. Prior to establishing Guangzhou Netease, Mr. Ding spent one year at Guangzhou
Feijie Co. as a systems analyst, from June 1996 to April 1997, one year at Sybase (China) as a project
manager, from May 1995 to May 1996, and two years at China Telecom Ningbo Branch as a technical
engineer, from June 1993 to May 1995. Mr. Ding holds a Bachelor of Science degree in Communication
Technology from the University of Electronic Science and Technology of China.
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Ted Sun has served as a director since December 1999 and as our acting Chief Executive Officer
from September 2001 following William Lei Ding's resignation from that position. Mr. Sun also worked
as our consultant from July 2001 until September 2001. From July 2000 until September 2001, he served
as Chief Financial Officer of Infoserve Technology. Prior to that, Mr. Sun held various positions with
Bear Stearns Asia Limited from November 1996 to May 2000, culminating in the position of Managing
Director. Prior to November 1996, Mr. Sun was an assistant director with Peregrine Capital Limited.

Mr. Sun received a Bachelor of Science degree in Economics from the Wharton School of Business,
University of Pennsylvania in 1988.

Denny Lee has served as a director and as our Chief Financial Officer since April 2002.
Previously, he was our Financial Controller from November 2001 until that time. Prior to joining our
company, Mr. Lee worked in the Hong Kong office of KPMG for more than ten years, culminating in the
position of Senior Manager in one of the audit departments where he specialized in auditing international
clients. During his employment with KPMG, he also worked with a number of Chinese companies with
respect to accounting and other aspects of their initial public offerings on the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange, due diligence work in relation to potential investments in Chinese companies and financial
and operational reviews of Chinese companies in connection with proposed investments in such
companies by foreign investors. Mr. Lee graduated from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University
majoring in accounting and is a member of The Hong Kong Society of Accountants and The Chartered
Association of Certified Public Accountants.

Mary Nee is an Executive Director and Chief Financial Officer for the Principal Investment Area
in Asia at Goldman Sachs (Asia) L.L.C. where she is responsible for monitoring investments, business
development, staffing and administration of the group. Prior to attaining these positions, Ms. Nee
managed a sales team in distributing fixed income securities to institutional clients in Greater China, the
Philippines and Korea. Prior to coming to Goldman Sachs in 1991, she spent five years at Hewlett
Packard Company in New York and New Jersey. Ms. Nee received her Masters of Business
Administration from Columbia University Graduate School of Business in 1991 and her Bachelor of
Science in Electrical Engineering from Columbia University in 1984, Ms. Nee has served as a director
since February 2001. '

Kathy Xu is a Partner of Baring Private Equity Partners, an Asian venture capital firm
specializing in information technology. Prior to joining Baring in 1998, Ms. Xu worked as an investment
manager for Peregrine Direct Investment Ltd. in Hong Kong for three years. Prior to that, she was a
senior accountant at Price Waterhouse in Hong Kong for three years. She also was an assistant manager
at the Bank of China Head Office in Beijing. Ms. Xu'received a Bachelor of Arts degree in English
Literature from Nanjing University in 1988. She is qualified in the United Kingdom as a certified public
accountant. Ms. Xu has served as a director since December 1999.

Michael Tong is currently an Executive Director with techpacific.com Venture Capital Limited.
In that capacity, he is primarily responsible for portfolio management of the funds managed by
techpacific.com and its subsidiaries. Prior to coming to techpacific.com in December 2000, Mr. Tong
worked at Softbank China Venture Investments Limited in Hong Kong, where he was responsible for the
evaluation, financial modeling, due diligence review and structuring of Softbank’s investments. He also
worked at Nomura China Venture Investments Limited, Jardine Fleming Securities Limited and Emst &
Young, all in Hong Kong. Mr. Tong graduated with a Bachelor of Business Administration from the
University of Wisconsin, Madison with 2 major in Accounting and an extra concentration in Computer
Stience in 1993. He is a member of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants and has
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passed all three levels of the Chartered Financial Analyst Examination. Mr. Tong has served as a
director since December 1999.

John Lau is the Chief Financial Officer of STAR Group Limited, The News Corporation
Limited's Asian satellite television and multi-media business. Mr. Lau was appointed to our board in
November 2001 pursuant to a contractual right held by The News Corporation, one of our shareholders,
following Lawrence J. Smith's resignation from his position with an affiliate of The News Corporation
and from our board. Mr. Lau graduated from Brigham Young University in Utah in August 1988 with a
Masters Degree in Accountancy and Information Systems ahd a Bachelor of Science degree in
Accounting. He is a current member of the California Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

- QOther Current Executive QOfficer (not subject to proposal 1)

Jack L. Xu joined our company as Co-Chief Technology Officer in May 2000 and became Chief
Technology Officer in March 2001. Mr. Xu served as director of technology at Excite@Home
Corporation from July 1999 to May 2000. Before joining Excite@Home, Mr. Xu served as Senior
Scientist and Senior Engineering Manager with Excite Incorporated from November 1996 to July 1999.
Prior joining Excite Incorporated, he worked as a senior researcher at the University of California at
Berkeley. Mr. Xu was a Ph.D. candidate in Computerized Information Retrieval at the University of
California at Berkeley. He holds both a Bachelor of Arts and a Master of Science degree in Information
Management Systems from Zhongshan University.

The directors will be elected by a majority of the votes present in person or represented by proxy
and entitled to vote. : ’ :

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS RECOMMENDS A VOTE FOR
THE ELECTION OF EACH OF THE NOMINEES NAMED ABOVE.

Relationships Among Directors or Executive Officers; Right to Nominate Directors

There are no family relationships among any of the directors or executive officers of our
company.

The News Corporation Limited has the right to nominate one director to our board, and, upon
nomination, certain of our shareholders holding a majority of our outstanding shares are obligated to vote
their shares in favor of such nominated director. See “Related Party Transactions” in this proxy
statement. One of our prior directors, Lawrence J. Smith, and one of our current directors, John Lau,
were nominated and elected to our board in this manner.

Meetings and Commiittees of the Board of Directors

During the year 2001, our board met in person or passed resolutions by unanimous written
consent twenty-six times. No director attended fewer than 75% of all the meetings of our board and its
committees on which he or she served after becoming a member of our board.
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Our board has two committees: the audit committee and the compensation committee. Our board
does not have a nominating committee or a committee performing the functions of a nominating
committee.

In 2001, the audit committee, which held nine formal meetings in that year and met informally
numerous other times during the course of its investigation into the circumstances which necessitated the
restatement of our audited 2000 financial statements, consisted of Mary Nee, Kathy Xin Xu and Michael
Sui Bau Tong. Each member of our audit committee satisfies the “independence” requirements of the
National Association of Securities Dealers' listing standards. The audit committee reports to our board
regarding the appointment of our independent public accountants, the scope and results of our annual
audits, compliance with our accounting and financial policies and management’s procedures and policies
relative to the adequacy of our internal accounting controls. Additionally, in 2001, our audit committee,
assisted by outside legal counsel and our independent auditors, also oversaw the investigation referenced
above. Ms. Nee has informed us that she intends to resign from the audit committee, as well as from the
compensation committee which is discussed below, in the near future, and the board has not yet
determined who will be nominated to fill these vacancies created by her resignation.

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation

The compensation committee, which met five times in 2001, has the same members as the audit
committee. The compensation committee’s functions are to review and make recommendations to our
board regarding our compensation policies and all forms of compensation to be provided to our executive
officers and directors. In addition, the compensation committee reviews bonus and stock compensation
arrangements for all of our other employees. No interlocking relationships currently exist or have existed
between our board of directors or compensation committee and the board of directors or compensation
committee of any other company.

Compensation of Directors

Helen He, our Chief Financial Officer from August 1999 until January 2001 and a director from
August 1999 until August 2001, provided consulting services to us from February 1, 2001 until April 30,
2001 in exchange for an aggregate of US$60,000. In addition, Ted Sun, a director since December 1999,
also provided consulting services to us from July 7, 2001 until September 11, 2001 when he assumed the
position of acting Chief Executive Officer. His compensation in 2001 is set out in the "Summary
Compensation Table" below. Finally, commencing in November 2001, we have been paying Michael
Tong US$1,000 per month for his services as one of our independent directors.

Other than Ms. He and Messrs. Sun and Tong, we did not pay any cash compensation to our non-
executive directors in 2001. For the year ended December 31, 2001, no options were granted to our
directors under our 2000 Stock Incentive Plan.

_ All of our current directors have entered into indemnification agreements in which we agree to
indemnify, to the fullest extent allowed by Cayman law, our charter documents or other applicable law,
those directors from any liability or expenses, unless the liability or expense arises from the director’s
own willful negligence or willful default. The indemnification agreements also specify the procedures to
be followed with respect to indemnification. In addition, the separation agreement for our former Chief
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Executive Officer and director, King F. Lai, provides that the indemnification agreement between him
and our company shall survive the termination of his employment with our company.
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Legal Proceedings

In October and November of 2001, four purported class action law suits were initiated by
individual shareholders in the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of New York against our
company, our Chief Architect, majority shareholder and a director (William Lei Ding), our former Chief
Executive Officer (King F. Lai), our former Chief Financial Officer (Helen Haiwen He), and the
underwriters in our initial public offering. To date, these actions have not yet been consolidated nor has
a lead counsel be appointed to represent the plaintiffs.

These lawsuits seek certification as a class action to represent those persons who purchased our
American Depositary Shares during the period from July 3, 2000 to August 31, 2001. In general, the
complaints allege, among other things, that (1) our initial public offering violated the U.S. securities
laws because the financial statements accompanying the offering’s registration statement misstated our
revenue, and (ii) our company committed securities fraud by materially misstating our revenue in our
2000 financial statements. The class action complaints seek damages in unspecified amounts.

While it is not feasible to predict or determine the final outcome of this proceeding or to estimate
the amounts or potential range of loss with respect to these matters, management believes that an adverse
outcome with respect to such proceeding could have a material adverse impact on our financial position,
results of operations and cash flow.
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PROPOSAL 2
RATIFICATION OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

Our board recommends that Arthur Andersen ® Hua Qiang be re-appointed as our independent
auditors for the year ending December 31, 2002. Arthur Andersen  Hua Qiang has audited our financial
statements since our formation in July 1999.

In the event our shareholders fail to ratify the appointment, our board of directors will reconsider
its selection. Even if the selection is ratified, our board of directors in its discretion may direct the
appointment of a different independent auditing firm at any time during the year if the directors believe
that such a change would be in the best interests of our company and shareholders. We have been
recently informed by Arthur Andersen » Hua Qiang that it intends to terminate its affiliation with Arthur
Andersen and join with the Chinese affiliate of PricewaterhouseCoopers. We cannot predict if or when
this change will occur, but if it does, the directors will evaluate the effect on our company and our
financial reporting at such time and decide in the board's discretion whether to appoint
PricewaterhouseCoopers as our auditors or to select another auditing firm.

A representative of Arthur Andersen ® Hua Qiang is expected to be present at the annual general
meeting, will have the opportunity to make a statement if he or she desires to do so, and will be available
to respond to appropriate questions.

The affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the shares present in person or represented by
proxy and voting at the annual general meeting will be required to approve this proposal 2.

THE BOARD RECOMMENDS A VOTE FOR RATIFICATION OF THE
APPOINTMENT OF ARTHUR ANDERSEN ¢ HUA QIANG AS OUR
INDEPENDENT AUDITORS FOR THE YEAR ENDING DECEMBER 31, 2002.
OTHER INFORMATION
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Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management

The following table sets forth certain information known to us with respect to the beneficial
ownership as of March 31, 2002 by:

. all persons who are beneficial owners of five percent or more of our ordinary shares,
. each director and nominee,
. our current and former Chief Executive Officers, our former Chief Operating Officer,

our former interim Chief Financial Officer and our Chief Technology Officer (referred to
in this proxy statement as the "Named Executive Officers"), and
. all current directors and executive officers as a group.

As of March 31, 2002, 3,034,241,863 shares of our ordinary shares were outstanding. The
amounts and percentages of ordinary shares beneficially owned are reported on the basis of regulations of
the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “Commission”) governing the determination of beneficial
ownership of securities. Under the rules of the Commission, a person is deemed to be a “beneficial
owner” of a security if that person has or shares “voting power,” which includes the power to vote or to
direct the voting of such security, or “investment power,” which includes the power to dispose of or to
direct the disposition of such security. A person is also deemed to be a beneficial owner of any securities
of which that person has a right to acquire beneficial ownership within 60 days. Under these rules, more
than one person may be deemed a beneficial owner of securities as to which such person has no
economic interest.

Number of Shares
Beneficially Owned

Name Number Percentage

5% Shareholders

Shining Globe International Limited/William Lei Ding (1) ................. 1,743,810,900 57.5%
15th Floor, North Tower,
Beijing Kerry Centre, No. 1 Guang Hua Road
Chao Yang District, Beijing 100020, PRC

Best Alliance Profits Limited (2) .....cccccuvievienienincciirnnieeinresneeeeenens 256,055,600 8.4%
c/o The News Corporation Limited
1211 Avenue of the Americas
New York, NY 10036

Named Executive Officers and Directors (3) :
JACK L. XU (4) ettt sttt s st st sa e 49,586,113 1.6%
King F. Lai (5)ccoieericiniiii ettt --- *
DEenny Lee ..ottt ettt st -—-
SuSAN Chen (6) ...cvveeirieieieirieierree e secresiereesaese st ste e sssaess s ss s e steeesaees -
GeOTITEY WET (7) cvveereee ettt ettt e -
TEA SUN (8) ettt et er e e besr e et 16,200,000
MaATY NEE oottt e s e et s -—--
Kathy Xin XU coveeceieireeins e srenniesrenes seessesssassesssesassenessesensssnssarensases 1,923,000
Michael Sui Bau TONE......cecviriee it 700,000

LR IR R 2 2R 1
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JORN LLBU vttt e e e e eee s seeteee e s sases e ets s e seetaneneeesaen s ——— *

All current directors and executive officers
as a group (8 persons) (9) .oovciievier it e 1,812,220,013 60.0%

* Less than 1%

(1) Shining Globe International Limited is 100% owned by William Lei Ding, our founder, our Chief
Architect and a director. ‘

2) Best Alliance Profits Limited is controlled by The News Corporation Limited.

3) The address of our current Named Executive Officers and directors is ¢/o NetEase.com, Inc.,
15th Floor, North Tower, Beijing Kerry Centre, No. 1 Guang Hua Road, Chao Yang District,
Beijing, People’s Republic of China.

@) Represents shares subject to stock options currently exercisable or exercisable within 60 days of
March 31, 2002.

5) All of Mr. Lai's outstanding stock options were cancelled at the time of his resignation from our
company, and, to our knowledge, he did not beneficially own any shares as of March 31, 2002.

6) All of Ms. Chen's outstanding stock options were cancelled at the time of her resignation from
our company, and, to our knowledge, she does not beneficially own any shares as of March 31,
2002,

N All of Mr. Wet's outstanding stock options were cancelled at the time of his resignation from our
company, and, to our knowledge, he did not beneficially own any shares as of March 31, 2002.

8) Includes 1,200,000 shares subject to stock options currently exercisable or exercisable within
60 days of March 31, 2002. ‘ :

(9) - Shares owned by all of our current directors and executive officers as a group includes shares

beneficially owned by William Lei Ding. This amount also includes 50,786,113 shares subject
to stock options currently exercisable or exercisable within 60 days of March 31, 2002.

Disclosure of Fees Charged by Independent Accountants

The following information summarizes the fees charged by Arthur Andersen » Hua Qiang for
certain services rendered to our company during 2001:

Audit Fees. Fees for our calendar year audit and reviews of the quarterly financial statements for
the 2001 fiscal year are US$681,209. ‘

Fees for Financial Information Systems Design and Implementation. None.

All Other Fees. All other fees billed to our company through December 31, 2001 totaled
US$1,059,572, which represented fees relating to (a) the audit work for the year 2000 which was
performed in 2001, (b) Arthur Andersen » Hua Qiang's investigation into the circumstances which
necessitated the restatement of our year 2000 financial statements and the related re-audit and (c) certain
tax compliance services.

Our audit committee considered and determined that Arthur Andersen ¢ Hua Qiang's provision of
the foregoing services, other than those services described under "Audit Fees," is compatible with
maintaining such auditor's independence.
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Summary Compensation Table

The following table sets forth certain information concerning compensation paid during 2001 and
2000 to our company's Named Executive Officers:

Long-Term
Annual Compensation Compensation
Restricted
Stock Securities All Other
Name and Principal  Fiscal Salary Bonus Awards  Underlying Compensation
Position Year _(US§) _ (USH{1) (US$) Options (#) (US$)

Ted Sun (2) 2001 73,000 165,000 (3) 73,035 (4) -—-- 12,400 (5)
Acting Chief 2000 ---- - -~ 1,200,000 -
Executive Officer and
a Director

William Lei Ding (6) 2001 93,500 -—-- - —— 14,400 (7)
Former Acting Chief 2000 85,000 - —— - 14,444 (7)
Executive Officer and _

Acting Chief
Operating Officer;
Current Director and
Chief Architect

Jack L. Xu (8) 2001 211,750 60,000 -—--- 35,050,000 95,080 (9)
Chief Technology 2000 119,736 30,000 ---- 33,605,500 12,300 (10)
Officer

King F. Lai (11) 2001 448,071 - - - 631,457 (12)
Former Chief 2000 262,254 162,000 -~ 57,612,500 37,746 (13)
Executive Officer '

Susan Chen (14) 2001 247911 ---- - ---- 340,089 (15)
Former Chief 2000 119,916 30,000 ---- 28,806,300 15,500 (16)
Operating Officer

Geoffrey Wei (17) 2001 63,548 11,150 ---- 500,000 56,111 (18)
Former Interim Chief 2000 50,543 4,315 ---- 2,000,000 -—--
Financial Officer

48] Includes bonus amounts in the year eamed, rather than in the year in which such bonus amount

was paid or is to be paid.

2) Mr. Sun, one of our directors, became our acting Chief Executive Officer on September 11, 2001

following Mr. Ding's resignation from that position.
3) This amount constituted a sign-on bonus which was paid in two installments: one of US$75,000

upon Mr. Sun's commencement of employment and the second of US$60,000 on January

2,2002. It also included a year-end performance bonus of US$30,000.

hk-22164 vl
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4) Pursuant to the terms of his employment agreement, Mr. Sun is entitled to receive cash payments
sufficient for him to purchase an aggregate of 25,000,000 of our ordinary shares at a price of
US$0.006492 per share (equivalent to US$0.6492 per ADS) over an 18-month period, subject to
his continued employment. Our board of directors set the per share purchase price at the fair
market value of the shares, which was deemed to be the last closing price on Nasdaq prior to the
grant of these subscription rights. In 2001, we paid Mr. Sun a total of US$73,035 to purchase
11,250,000 of such shares in accordance with his subscription schedule.

(5) Represents a housing allowance paid by our company on behalf of Mr. Sun.

(6) Mr. Ding served as our acting Chief Executive Officer from July 1999 until April 2000 and again
from June 2001 until September 2001 and as our Chairman from July 1999 until September
2001. He also served as our acting Chief Operating Officer from June 2001 until September
2001 and as our Co-Chief Technology Officer until March 2001, at which time he became our
Chief Architect.

€ Represents a housing allowance paid by our company on behalf of Mr. Ding.

(8) Mr. Xu joined our company as Co-Chief Technology Officer in May 2000 and has been our
Chief Technology Officer since March 2001,

9 Represents US$25,200 for a housing allowance paid by our company on behalf of Mr. Xu and a
US$69,880 payment towards Mr. Xu's taxes.

(10)  Represents a housing allowance paid by our company on behalf of Mr. Xu.

(11)  Mr. Lai served as our Chief Executive Officer and a director from April 2000 until June 2001.

(12)  Includes a US$22,800 housing and auto allowance, plus US$305,524 in taxes paid by our
company on behalf of Mr. Lai and an aggregate of US$303,133 that was paid to Mr. Lai in 2001
in connection with his separation from our company. All of Mr. Lai's stock options were
cancelled upon his resignation from the company. _

(13)  Includes a US$20,151 housing and auto allowance, plus US$17,595 in tuition for a family
member of Mr. Lai. ' .

(14)  Ms. Chen served as our Chief Operating Officer from June 2000 until June 2001.

(15)  Includes a US$18,600 housing allowance, plus US$161,621 in taxes paid by our company on
behalf of Ms. Chen and an aggregate of US$159,868 that was paid to Ms. Chen in 2001 in
connection with her separation from our company. All of Ms. Chen's stock options were
cancelled upon her resignation from the company.

(16)  Represents a housing allowance paid by our company on behalf of Ms. Chen.

(17)  Mr. Wei served as our interim Chief Financial Officer from January 2001 until September 2001.

(18)  Represents a severance payment to Mr. Wei in connection with his separation from our company.
All of Mr. Wei's stock options have terminated.

We have entered into employment agreements with William Lei Ding, Ted Sun-and Jack Xu and
non-competition agreements with Ted Sun and Jack Xu, as described below. We have also entered into
an employment agreement with Denny Lee who was named our Chief Financial Officer in April 2002
after having served as our Financial Controller since November 2001. The employment contracts of
King Lai, Helen Haiwen He, Susan Chen and Geoffrey Wei with our company terminated upon their
respective resignations as our Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, Chief Operating Officer
and interim Chief Financial Officer in 2001.

William Lei Ding. In August 1999, we entered into an employment agreement with Mr. Ding
which provides for an initial annual salary of US$85,000, plus a discretionary bonus, if any. This salary
is subject to board review at least once a year and was increased to US$93,500 in January 2001. Mr.
Ding is also entitled to a housing allowance in an amount to be agreed upon by Mr. Ding and our
company on an annual basis. Under this employment agreement, Mr. Ding is obligated to keep all
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proprietary information regarding our company confidential, except in limited circumstances. He is
further precluded during his employment with us from carrying on or being employed by any business in
China which is in competition with us or, directly or indirectly, solicit away from NetEase any of our
existing or prospective clients or customers.

Ted Sun. In September 2001, we entered into an employment agreement with Ted Sun which
provides for an annual salary of US$240,000, plus a discretionary bonus of up to US$250,000 if we
obtain profitability during the term of his employment. In addition, Mr. Sun received a sign-on bonus of
US$135,000 which was paid in two installments in September 2001 and January 2002 and a year-end
performance bonus of US$30,000. He is also entitled to receive cash payments sufficient for him to
purchase an aggregate of 25,000,000 of our ordinary shares at a price of US$0.006492 per share over an
18-month period, subject to his continued employment. Mr. Sun purchased one-third of such shares at
the commencement of his employment and an additional 15% of such shares in each of December 2001
and March 2002. He may acquire the remaining shares as follows: 10% on each of the four subsequent
three-month anniversaries after March 2002. Mr. Sun is also entitled to receive a housing allowance.

In addition, we also entered into a non-competition agreement with Mr. Sun which obligates Mr.
Sun to keep all proprietary information regarding our company confidential, except in limited
circumstances. This agreement also prohibits Mr. Sun from obtaining an ownership interest in (unless
the total investment represents less than 5% of the total equity of the competitor and the competitor is a
listed company), or employment with, any of our competitors during his employment with us and for one
year thereafter. During that same period, he may not solicit or encourage any of our officers or

employees to terminate their employment with us, except when done in the course of his job with
NetEase. A '

Jack L. Xu. We entered into an employment agreement with Mr. Xu in March 2000 which
provides for an initial annual salary of US$185,000 per year, plus a US$20,000 signing bonus. His
employment agreement was later amended in November 2001 at which time his salary was increased to
US$232,000. He is also entitled to receive a housing allowance of up to US$2,200 per month for a
residence in Beijing and a one-time performance bonus of US$60,000 which was paid on January 31,
2002. In addition, pursuant to his original employment agreement, Mr. Xu was granted options to
purchase 25,605,500 of our ordinary shares at an exercise price of US$0.1562 per share. These options
vest over a period of three years at the rate of 33% on the first anniversary of his employment agreement
and 2.78% on each of the following 24 months. Under Mr. Xu's amended employment agreement, he
also received additional options to purchase 20,000,000 of our ordinary shares at an exercise price of
US$0.006492 per share. These additional options vest over a period of 16-months with 20/36 of them
vesting on the grant date and 2.78% on each of the following 16 months. If we terminate Mr. Xu’s
employment without cause at any time, the shares that would have been vested under both option grants
within the next six months after termination will automatically vest at the time of termination. Further, if
there is a change of control transaction involving our company, the vesting of Mr. Xu’s options will
accelerate so that all unvested options will become vested immediately prior to the completion of that
transaction. Mr. Xu has also been granted stock options independent of those provided for in his
employment agreements. Finally, if we terminate Mr. Xu without cause, we must pay him a lump sum
severance equal to six month’s salary plus a moving allowance of US$8,000.

We also entered into a non-competition agreement with Mr. Xu which obligates Mr. Xu to keep
all proprietary information regarding our company confidential, except in limited circumstances. This
agreement also prohibits Mr. Xu from obtaining an ownership interest in (unless the total investment
represents less than 5% of the total equity of the competitor and the competitor is a listed company), or
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employment with, any of our competitors during his employment with us and for six months thereafter.
During that same period, he may not solicit or encourage any of our officers or employees to terminate
their employment with us, except when done in the course of his job with NetEase.

Denny Lee. In November 2001, we entered into an employment agreement with Denny Lee
which provides for an annual salary of US$120,000, plus an annual bonus of not less than US$38,000.
Mr. Lee is also entitled to receive a housing allowance not to exceed US$1,100 per month. This
agreement also prohibits Mr. Lee, during his employment with us and for six months thereafter, from
obtaining an ownership interest in (unless the total investment represents less than 5% of any single class
of shares of the competitor-and the competitor is a listed company), or employment with, any company
which carries on a business which competes with our company and in which Mr. Lee was involved at any
time during the last two years of his employment or in relation to which he acquired any confidential
information during the course of his employment. During that same period, he may not solicit, entice or
hire any of our employees or major customers. Mr. Lee has also entered into a proprietary information
agreement which obligates him to keep all proprietary information regarding our company confidential,
except in limited circumstances. Our company is currently in discussions with Mr. Lee regarding
possible adjustments to his remuneration package in connection with his promotion to the position of
Chief Financial Officer in April 2002, although no definite agreement has yet been reached. We expect
that the non-competition and related restrictions described above would remain in effect after such
adjustments, if any, are implemented.
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Option Grants in Last Fiscal Year

The following table sets forth information regarding stock options granted to the Named

Executive Officers during 2001:

Individual Grants

% of Total

Number of Options _ Potential Realizable
Securities Granted to Value at Assumed Annual Rate
Underlying Employees  Exercise of Stock Price Appreciation for

Options in Fiscal Price per Expiration Option Term (3)

Name Granted Year (1) Share (2) Date 5% 10%
Ted Sun - --- ---- - - -
William Lei Ding ---- - - - - e

Jack L. Xu (4) 15,050,000 28.53% US$0.015625 March 8, 2011 US$147,889 US$374,779

20,000,000 37.92% US$0.006492 Nov. 29, 2011 US$81,656 US$206,932

King F. Lai (5) 30,100,000 (5) 6) (5) (5) (5)

Susan Chen (6) 22,575,000 (6) 6 (6) , (6) (6)

Geoffrey Wei (7) 500,000 7 [0 ) 0 (7)

M

@

)

4)

&)
)
(7

Based on a total of 52,751,490 options granted to employees of NetEase in 2001, including
options granted to the Named Executive Officers but excluding all options which were granted
and terminated in that same year.

The exercise price per share of options granted represented the fa1r market value of the

“underlying shares of ordinary shares on the date the options were granted. For options granted

while trading in our ADSs was suspended on Nasdaq (September 2001 until January 2, 2002),
the fair market value was deemed to be the last closing price prior to such suspension, which was
US$0.006492 per ordinary share or US$0.6492 per ADS.

The potential realizable value 1s calculated based upon the term of the option at its time of grant.
It is calculated assuming that the stock price on the date of grant appreciates at the indicated
annual rate, compounded annually for the entire term of the option, and that the option is
exercised and sold on the last day of its term for the appreciated stock price.

For the first option grant listed, one-third vested on March 24, 2001. The remaining portion of
that grant shall vest in equal monthly installments of 2.78% for the two year period following
March 24, 2001. For the second option grant listed, 20/36 of it vested on November 29, 2001
with 2.78% vesting on each of the following 16 month anniversaries of that date. The vesting of
these options may also accelerate in certain circumstances.

These options were cancelled in connection with Mr. Lai's resignation as our Chlef Executive
Officer in June 2001.

These options were cancelled in connection with Ms. Chen's resignation as our Chief Operating
Officer in June 2001. ‘

These options were cancelled in connection with Mr. Wei's resignation as our interim Chief
Financial Officer in September 2001.
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Aggregated Option Exercises in Last Fiscal Year and Fiscal Year-End Option Values

The following table sets forth certain information with respect to stock options exercised by the
Named Executive Officers during 2001. In addition, the table sets forth the number of shares covered by
stock options as of December 31, 2001, and the value of “in-the-money” stock options, which represents
the difference between the exercise price of a stock option and the market price of the shares subject to
such option on December 31, 2001.

Number of Securities

Underlying Unexercised Value of Unexercised
Shares Value Options at In-the-Money Options at
Acquired on Realized December 31, 2001 (#)  December 31, 2001 (USS$)(2)
Name Exercise (US$)(1)  Exercisable Unexercisabie Exercisable Unexercisable
Ted Sun ---- - 1,080,000 120,000 - ----
William Lei Ding --- o . ---- - ----
Jack L. Xu ---- - 40,042,999 28,612,501 ---- -
King F. Lai ---- - - - o e
Susan Chen e e e e - —
Geoffrey Wei ———- o -—— -——- o -
(D The value realized upon the exercise of stock options represents the positive spread between the

exercise price of stock options and the fair market of the shares subject to such options on the
exercise date. However, during 2001, no options were exercised by the Named Executive Officers
so no value was realized by any of those officers.

2) No unexercised options of the Named Executive Officers were in-the-money as of December 31,
2001.
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Related Party Transactions

Our business was founded in June 1997. In July 1999, we established a new holding company,
NetEase.com, Inc., in the Cayman Islands. In September 1999, we restructured our operations in order to
comply with increasing regulation of the Internet industry in China. As part of this restructuring,
substantially all of Guangzhou Netease Computer System Co., Ltd.’s, or Guangzhou Netease, fixed and
intangible assets and existing Internet applications, services and technologies were acquired by Netease
Information Technology (Beijing) Co., Ltd., or Netease Beijing, a wholly owned subsidiary of NetEase
formed in August 1999. Guangzhou Netease, which is 80% owned by our founder, Chief Architect,
majority shareholder and a director, William Lei Ding, has received approval from the Guangzhou
telecommunications administrative authorities to provide Intemet content services, and its 80% owned
subsidiary, Beijing Guangyitong Advertising Co., Ltd., or Guangyitong Advertising, holds a license to
operate an advertising business.

NetEase and Netease Beijing entered into a series of agreements with Guangzhou Netease,
Guangyitong Advertising and the shareholders of Guangzhou Netease and Guangyitong Advertising
under which we provide our Internet and e-commerce applications, services and technologies and
advertising services to Guangzhou Netease and Guangyitong Advertising, and Guangzhou Netease and
Guangyitong Advertising operate the NetEase Web sites and our online advertising business. We do not
believe NetEase and Netease Beijing could have obtained these agreements, taken as a whole, from
unrelated third parties. We believe that the terms of each agreement are no less favorable than the terms
that we could obtain from disinterested third parties. Guangzhou Netease is one of a limited number of
companies in China to have secured approval from the Guangzhou telecommunications administrative
authorities to engage in the Internet content provider business. Through our agreements, we have the
exclusive right to benefit from this approval. In addition, we have secured significant rights over
Guangyitong Advertising and the ultimate shareholders of Guangyitong Advertising and have obtained
the commitment of the ultimate shareholders of Guangyitong Advertising to allow it to direct the policies
and management of the ongoing activities of Guangyitong Advertising. We believe that the shareholders
of Guangzhou Netease and Guangyitong Advertising will not receive material benefits from these
agreements except as shareholders of NetEase. Because of the uncertain and changing legal and
regulatory environment in China, most of these agreements have terms of one year, except for the
Domain Names License Agreement between NetEase and Guangzhou Netease which has a term of five
years, and the Operating Agreement among Netease Beijing, Guangyitong Advertising and the ultimate
shareholders of Guangyitong Advertising which has a term of twenty years. In addition, the Voting
Rights Trust Agreement among Netease Beijing and William Lei Ding and Bo Ding (William Lei Ding’s
brother), as ultimate shareholders of Guangyitong Advertising has a term of ten years. These agreements
are described below.

. Domain Name License Agreement between NetEase and Guangzhou Netease. NetEase
granted Guangzhou Netease the right to use the domain names ‘netease.com,’’ *‘163.com,””
““126.com,” ‘‘yeah.net’’ and ‘‘nease.net’’ on the NetEase Web sites in China for license
fees of RMB 10,000 per year. NetEase may waive this fee in the future. By a Supplemental
Agreement entered into between the parties in May 2000, the term of this agreement has
been extended from one year to five years.

d Copyright License Agreement between Netease Beijing and Guangzhou Netease.
Netease Beijing granted Guangzhou Netease the right to use Netease Beijing’s Web page

layout in China for a royalty of RMB10,000 per year. Netease Beijing may waive this fee in
the future.
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d Trademark License Agreement between Netease Beijing and Guangzhou Netease.
Netease Beijing granted Guangzhou Netease a license to use Netease Beijing’s registered
trademarks on the NetEase Web sites in China for license fees of RMB10,000 per year.
Netease Beijing may waive this fee in the future.

. Exclusive Technical Services Master Agreement between Netease Beijing and
Guangzhou Netease. Netease Beijing provides Guangzhou Netease with technical services
for the operation of the NetEase Web sites, including:

- server maintenance;

- server application software development;

- Internet application software development;
- training; and

- e-commerce related services.

Guangzhou Netease pays monthly service fees to Netease Beijing based on the actual
operating circumstances of the parties. Netease Beijing may unilaterally adjust such fees.
Netease Beijing is Guangzhou Netease’s exclusive provider of these services.

_Neteése Beijing has the right to transfer and sell its interests in this Exclusive Technical
Services Master Agreement or any other agreements between it and Guangzhou Netease.

. Exclusive Consulting and Services Agreement between Netease Beijing and Guangyitong
Advertising. Netease Beijing provides Guangyitong Advertising with technical consulting
and related services for all advertisements published on the NetEase Web sites. Guangyitong
Advertising submits designs of advertisements to be published on the NetEase Web sites,
and Netease Beijing completes the related technical work and delivers the completed
advertisements to Guangyitong Advertising. Guangyitong Advertising pays fees to Netease
Beijing based on the actual operating circumstances of the parties, which consist of
substantially all of Guangyitong Advertising’s advertising revenue, net of the related
business tax and cultural development fee. Netease Beijing may unilaterally adjust such fees.
Netease Beijing will be Guangyitong Advertising’s exclusive provider of these services. The
initial term of this agreement will be 10 years.

. Exclusive Advertising Agency Agreement between NetEase and Guangzhou Netease.
Guangzhou Netease appointed NetEase as its advertising agent to solicit advertising
customers on behalf of Guangzhou Netease in markets outside of China. NetEase pays
Guangzhou Netease 10% of the total advertising revenue under this agreement per month.

. Online Advertising Agreement between Guangzhou Netease and Guangyitong
Advertising, as amended by a Supplemental Agreement entered into in May 2000.
Guangzhou Netease sells all of the banner space on the NetEase Web sites to Guangyitong
Advertising and publishes the advertisements provided by Guangyitong Advertising on the
banner space purchased by Guangyitong Advertising. Guangyitong Advertising pays
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Guangzhou Netease RMB 10,000 per year. Guangzhou Netease may waive this fee in the
future. The initial term of this agreement will be 10 years.

Trademark Transfer Agreement between Guangzhou Netease and Netease Beljing.
Guangzhou Netease has agreed to transfer its registered trademarks to Netease Beijing.

Supplemental Agreement between Netease Beijing and Guangzhou Netease. Netease
Beijing may not grant the license to use its domain name, copyright and trademark to any
third party without Guangzhou Netease’s consent and may not provide technical service to
any third party.

Operating Agreement among Netease Beijing, Guangyitong and the ultimate
shareholders of Guangyitong Advertising. To ensure the successful performance of the
various agreements between the parties, Guangyitong Advertising and its ultimate
shareholders have agreed that they will not enter into any transaction, or fail to take any
action, that would substantially affect the assets, liabilities, equity or operations of
Guangyitong Advertising without the prior written consent of Netease Beijing.

The parties have agreed that upon Netease Beijing’s determination and at any time when
Netease Beijing is able to obtain approval to invest in and operate all or any part of
Guangyitong Advertising, Netease Beijing will acquire all of the assets or equity interests of
Guangyitong Advertising, to the extent permitted by Chinese law. The consideration for
such acquisitions will be based on the book value of Guangyitong Advertising at the time of
acquisition,

Netease Beijing has agreed that it will provide performance guarantees and guarantee
loans for working capital purposes to the extent required by Guangyitong Advertising for its
operations.

The ultimate shareholders of Guangyitong Advertising have agreed that upon instruction
from Netease Beijing, they will appoint or terminate Guangyitong Advertising’s board
members, General Manager, Chief Financial Officer and other senior officers.

Netease Beijing has the right to transfer and sell its interests in the Operating Agreement
or any other agreements between it and Guangyitong Advertising.

Shareholder Voting Rights Trust Agreement among William Lei Ding, Bo Ding and
Netease Beijing. Bo Ding irrevocably appoints Netease Beijing to represent him to exercise
all the voting rights to which he is entitled as a shareholder of Guangyitong Advertising and
William Lei Ding and Bo Ding agree to cause Guangzhou Netease to irrevocably appoint
Netease Beijing to represent Guangzhou Netease to exercise all the voting rights to which
Guangzhou Netease is entitled as a shareholder of Guangyitong Advertising.

Termination Agreements between Netease Beijing and Guangzhou Netease. Netease
Beijing and Guangzhou Netease terminated previously existing contracts related to Netease
Beijing’s rights with respect to the operation of Guangzhou Netease, the lease of equipment
from Netease Beijing to Guangzhou Netease and the sublease of leased lines from Netease
Beijing to Guangzhou Netease. Under the Termination Agreements, Netease Beijing agrees
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to provide without charge to Guangzhou Netease equipment related to the operation of
Internet information services.

. Agreement between Netease Beijing and Guangzhou Netease. Netease Beijing agrees to
pay the operating costs of Guangzhou Netease.

. Letter of Agreement. Each of William Lei Ding and Bo Ding have agreed that any
amendments to be made to the Exclusive Consulting and Services Agreement, the
Shareholder Voting Rights Trust Agreement, and the Operating Agreement described above,
as well as all other agreements to which Guangzhou Netease, Guangyitong Advertising
and/or William Lei Ding and Bo Ding are parties, shall be subject to the approval by the
vote of a majority of our board, excluding the vote of William Lei Ding. Messrs. Ding have
also agreed that, if any amendments to the above mentioned agreements require a vote of the
shareholders of NetEase, Guangzhou Netease or Guangyitong Advertising, as applicable,
both of them will vote in their capacity as direct or indirect shareholders of these companies
to act based upon the instructions of our board.

Voting Arrangement. The News Corporation Limited has the right to nominate one director to
our board of directors. Upon nomination, certain of our shareholders holding a majority of our
outstanding shares, including our largest shareholder, Shining Globe, have agreed to vote their shares in
favor of the appointment of The News Corporation’s nominated director. The News Corporation’s right
to nominate one director and certain of our shareholders’, including Shining Globe’s, agreement to vote
their shares in favor of the director nominated by The News Corporation, will be in effect for so long as
The News Corporation owns more than 4.25% of our total issued and outstanding share capital. On
October 3, 2000, The News Corporation exercised this right and Lawrence Joseph Smith was nominated
and elected to our board. In November 2001, Mr. Smith resigned from an affiliate of The News
Corporation and from our board, at which time John Lau was nominated and elected to our board in this
manner.

Co-Sale Rights. Under the term of the investors’ rights agreement among The News
Corporation, Shining Globe and certain other shareholders, for so long as The News Corporation owns at
least 4.25% of our outstanding share capital, it has the right, at its option, to sell its shares if Shining
Globe proposes to sell any of its shares, on the same terms and conditions as Shining Globe. To the
extent any prospective purchaser of Shining Globe’s shares refuses to purchase The News Corporation’s
shares, Shining Globe may not sell its shares unless Shining Globe purchases The News Corporation’s
shares. '

Strategic Alliance with The News Corporation. In March 2000, we issued 2,560,556 of our
Series B preference shares to Best Alliance Profits Limited, a company controlled by The News
Corporation Limited, in exchange for US$35 million in cash together with on-air advertising and
promotional services. In connection with this issuance, we entered into an agreement with News Digital
Ventures, an affiliate of The News Corporation Limited, which provides for cooperation between us and
The News Corporation. As part of the consideration for the issuance of our Series B preference shares,
The News Corporation and its affiliates will provide us with on-air advertising and promotional
inventory with a value of US$5 million on The News Corporation’s media properties, including Channel
[V], ESPN Star Sports, Phoenix TV and STAR TV. We have agreed to use at least US$1 million of the
inventory within one year, and at least US$2 million in each of the next two years. As of March 31,
2002, we have used US$1 million of the inventory and have contracted to use an additional US$2 million
of the inventory before May 11, 2003. In addition, The News Corporation and its affiliates have agreed
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to spend US$5 million on on-line advertising on the NetEase Web sites during this time, including US$1
million within one year and US$2 million in each of the next two years. As of March 31, 2002, The
News Corporation has used approximately US$1 million of this advertising inventory. If News
Corporation and its affiliates are collectively the largest committed buyer of advertising on the NetEase
Web sites, they will be entitled to purchase this advertising on terms that are no less favorable than those
that are applicable to any other non-affiliated buyer.

The News Corporation has a right of first refusal to provide Chinese language content to the
NetEase Web sites in the areas of popular music, sports and movies and general entertainment. We and
The News Corporation have also agreed to cross-license Internet tools and technologies and participate in
cross-promotional and marketing activities. However, no cross-licensing, cross-promotional or
marketing activities have been performed by us and The News Corporation to date, and we do not expect
that they will be performed in the future.

Share Transfers to Certain Senior Management Personnel and Key Employees. In 1999, Shining
Globe International Limited, which is 100% owned by William Lei Ding, our founder, Chief Architect
majority shareholder and a director, agreed to transfer an aggregate of 109,694,200 ordinary shares to
certain senior management personnel and key employees. These share transfers were effected in January
2000. The share transfer commitments were made to provide incentives to senior management personnel
and key employees to join our company. The fair market value of these shares as of the date of such
agreement (RMB45.4 million or US$5.5 million) was charged to our earnings in 1999 as share
compensation costs in accordance with U.S. GAAP, with a corresponding increase in additional paid-in
capital. Furthermore, in March 2000, January 2001 and January 2002, William Lei Ding transferred
1,945,200, 8,757,100 and 4,609,000 shares, respectively, to certain employees.

In addition, Shining Globe has agreed to transfer 4,609,000 ordinary shares for services to be
rendered by one of those individuals on January 1, 2003. The total estimated fair value of these shares,
valued at US$0.05 per share at the date of grant, is recognized as deferred compensation, which are
amortized over the related vesting periods.

Except for the voting arrangements described above, our major shareholders do not have
different voting rights than any of our other shareholders.

Loans and Advances. We have entered into loan agreements with four related parties, the
proceeds of which were used to purchase our ADSs. The loans bear an interest rate of five percent and
are due one year from the date of disbursement of the loan proceeds. As of March 31, 2002, the amounts
disbursed to the related parties were approximately US$777,000 in the aggregate. These loans are
currently in default by their terms, and to date, they have not been repaid. We are currently negotiating
with these parties for a full or partial repayment of the loans. In addition, we have loaned US$250,000 to
a former employee of our company pursuant to an oral arrangement, and we consider this loan to also be
in default. We have made full provision for these loans in our audited financial statements for the year
2001, which impacted our statement of operations. Please refer to our audited financial statements for
the year 2001 and the accompanying notes contained in our 2001 annual report.
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We have also loaned US$235,000 to William Lei Ding, our founder, Chief Architect, majority
shareholder and a director. This loan bears an interest rate of six percent per annum, and the entire

amount of accrued but unpaid interest and the principal balance outstanding are due and payable on
November 11, 2006.
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COMPENSATION COMMITTEE REPORT

The compensation committee of the board of directors is responsible for reviewing and making
recommendations to the board regarding compensation policies and all forms of compensation to be
provided to NetEase’s executive officers and directors. In addition, the compensation committee reviews
bonus and stock compensation arrangements for all other employees. The compensation committee also
has the exclusive responsibility for the administration of the NetEase.com, Inc. 1999 Stock Incentive Plan
and 2000 Stock Incentive Plan, and it has delegated the power to award options under those plans for
non-executive officers to NetEase's chief executive officer.

The fundamental policy of the compensation committee is to provide NetEase’s chief executive
officer and other executive officers with competitive compensation opportunities based upon their
contribution to the financial success of the company and their personal performance. It is the
compensation committee’s objective to have a substantial portion of each officer’s compensation
contingent upon the company’s performance as well as upon his or her own level of performance.
Accordingly, the compensation package for the chief executive officer and executive vice presidents is
comprised of three elements: (i) base salary which reflects individual performance and is designed
primarily to be competitive with salary levels in the industry, (ii) annual variable performance awards
payable in cash, and (i1i) long-term stock-based incentive awards which strengthen the mutuality of
interests between the executive officers and the company’s shareholders. As an executive officer’s level
of responsibility increases, it is the intent of the compensation committee to have a greater portion of his
or her total compensation be dependent upon company performance and stock price appreciation rather
than base salary. v

‘ NetEase’s executive compensation is intended to be consistent with leading companies in the
Internet and telecommunications industries while being contingent upon achievement of near- and long-
term corporate objectives. For the calendar year 2001, the principal measures the compensation
committee looked to in evaluating the company’s progress toward these objectives were growth in
revenue, net profits and usage of the NetEase Web sites. In addition, the compensation committee took
into account the effect on the company's compensation policies and its ability to recruit and retain
suitable managers which resulted from the company's restatement of its audited financial statements for
the year 2000, the civil litigation that was initiated in 2001 against the company, certain of its current and
former employees and others, the suspension of trading in the company's shares on Nasdaq from
September 2001 until January 2, 2002, and the high staff tum-over experienced by the company in 2001.

Executive compensation is based on three components, each of which in intended to serve the
overall compensation philosophy.

Base Salary. The base salary for each officer is determined on the basis of the following
factors: experience, personal performance, the average salary levels in effect for comparable positions
within and without the industry and internal comparability considerations. The weight given to each of
these factors differs from individual to individual, as the compensation committee deems appropriate. In
selecting comparable companies for the purposes of maintaining competitive compensation, the
compensation committee considers many factors including geographic location, growth rate, annual
revenue and profitability, and market capitalization. The compensation committee also considers
companies outside the industry which may compete with NetEase in recruiting executive talent.

- Annual Incentive Compensation. Bonuses for executives are intended to be used as an
incentive to encourage management to perform at a high level or to recognize a particular contribution by
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an employee. Generally, the higher the employee’s level of responsibility, the larger the portion of the
individual’s compensation package that may be represented by a bonus. Annual bonuses are earned by
each executive officer primarily on the basis of the Company’s achievement of certain corporate
financial performance goals established for each fiscal year or designated individual goals. The actual
bonus paid for the year to each of the Named Executive Officers 1s indicated in the Bonus column of the
Summary Compensation Table.

Long-Term Compensation. The compensation committee believes that stock ownership
by management is beneficial in aligning management and shareholder interests with respect to enhancing
shareholder value. Stock options are also used to retain executives and motivate them to improve long-
term stock market performance. Factors considered in making an award of stock options include the
individual’s position in the company, his or her performance and responsibilities, and internal
comparability considerations.

Each option grant under the 2000 Stock Incentive Plan allows the employee to acquire
shares of ordinary shares at a fixed price per share over a specified period of time of not more than 10
years. The compensation committee determines the vesting schedule of awards granted under the plan.

The exercise price of incentive stock options must be at least equal to the fair market
value of the company’s shares on the date of grant, and the term of the option must not exceed ten years.
The purchase price of non-qualified stock options must be at least 85% of the fair market value of the
company’s shares on the date of grant. With respect to an employee who owns shares possessing more
than 10% of the voting power of all classes of outstanding capital, the exercise price of any incentive
stock option must equal at least 110% of the fair market value of the company’s shares on the date of
grant and the term of the option must not exceed five years. The exercise or purchase price of other
awards will be such price as determined by the compensation committee.

As a result of these provisions, the option will provide a return to the executive officer
only if the executive officer remains employed by the company during the vesting period, and then only
if the market price of the underlying shares appreciates over the option term. The compensation
committee does not adhere to any specific guidelines as to the relative option holdings of the company’s
executive officers. The actual options granted to each of the Named Executive Officers in the Summary
Compensation Table is indicated in the Long-Term Compensation column.

The board suspended the 1999 Stock Incentive Plan in February 2000, meaning that no
new awards will be granted under that plan unless the board makes it effective again. 'All outstanding
awards already granted under the 1999 Stock Incentive Plan will remain in full force and effect in
accordance with the applicable award agreement and that plan as if that plan had not been suspended.

Compensation of the Chief Executive Officer. The compensation of the Chief Executive
Officer is reviewed annually on the same basis as discussed above for all executive officers. Our former
Chief Executive Officer who resigned in June 2001, King F. Lat, had a base salary for 2001 of
US$400,000 on an annualized basis. In 2001, the annual base salary of William Ding, who was our
acting Chief Executive Officer from June 2001 until September 2001 (and was prior to that period, and
continues to be, our Chief Architect), was US$93,500.
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Our current acting Chief Executive Officer, Ted Sun, who assumed this position in
September 2001 receives a base salary of US$240,000. In determining his base salary, the compensation
committee compared the base salaries of chief executive officers at other companies of similar size. His
salary was also established in part by evaluating the company's ability to recruit a suitable person for this
position, either on a permanent or interim basis, given the recent events in the company.

Compensation Committee

Kathy Xin Xu
Michael Sui Bau Tong
Mary Nee

AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT

The audit committee has reviewed and discussed NetEase’s audited financial statements with
management and has discussed certain required matters with its independent auditors, in accordance with
Statement of Auditing Standards (“SAS”) No. 61, as amended by SAS No. 90. NetEase's independent
auditors also provided written documentation to the audit committee, describing all relationships between
the auditors and the company that might bear on the auditors' independence consistent with Independence
Standards Board Standard No. 1, discussed with the auditors any relationships that may impact their
objectivity and independence and satisfied itself as to the auditors' independence.

Based on the above-mentioned review and discussions with management and the independent
auditors, the audit committee recommended to the board that the company's audited financial statements
be included in its Annual Report on Form 20-F for the year ended December 31, 2001. The audit
committee also recommended the re-appointment of the independent auditors and the board concurred in
such recommendation.

Audit Committee
Kathy Xin Xu
Michael Sui Bau Tong
Mary Nee
STOCK PERFORMANCE GRAPH
The following graph compares the cumulative total shareholder return data for our ADSs, each of
which represents 100 of our ordinary shares, since July 6, 2000 (the date on which our ADSs were first
publicly offered) against the cumulative return over such period of:
. The Nasdaq National Market Composite Index, and
) the Goldman Sachs Internet Index.
The graph assumes that US$100 was invested on July 6, 2000 in our ADSs and in each of the

comparative indices. The graph further assumes that such amount was initially invested in the ADSs at a
per share price of US$15.50, the price at which such ADSs were first offered to the public on the date of
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our initial public offering. The stock price performance on the following graph is not necessarily
indicative of future stock price performance.

- —— NetEase.com, Inc.
! ~—&-— Nasdaa Combaosite index . I
[ *  Goldman Sachs Intemet Index ‘ "

6-Jul-00 29-Sep-00 31-Dec-00 31-Mar-01  30-Jun-01 31-Sep-01 31-Dec-01

OTHER MATTERS

We know of no other matters to be submitted to the annual géneral meeting. If any other matters
properly come before the annual general meeting, it is the intention of the persons named in the enclosed
form of proxy to vote the shares they represent as the board of directors may recommend.

By Order of the Board of Directors,

e

Ted Sun
Member of the Board of Directors and
Acting Chief Executive Officer

Dated: April 30, 2002
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THIS PROXY IS SOLICITED ON BEHALF OF
THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF NETEASE.COM, INC.
FOR THE ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS
TO BE HELD ON JUNE 6, 2002

The undersigned shareholder of NETEASE.COM, INC., a Cayman Islands company (the
“Company”), hereby acknowledges receipt of the notice of annual general meeting of
shareholders and proxy statement, each dated April 30, 2002, and hereby appoints Ted Sun and
Denny Lee or any one of them, proxies, with full power to each of substitution, on behalf and in
the name of the undersigned, to represent the undersigned at the annual general meeting of
shareholders of the Company to be held on June 6, 2002 at 10:00 a.m., Beijing time, at the
Company’s principal executive offices, 15th Floor, North Tower, Beijing Kerry Centre, No. 1
Guang Hua Road, Chao Yang District, Beijing, People’s Republic of China, and at any
adjournment or adjournments thereof, and to vote all ordinary shares which the undersigned
would be entitled to vote if then and there personally present, on the matters set forth below (i) as
specified by the undersigned below and (ii) in the discretion of any proxy upon such other
business as may properly come before the meeting, all as set forth in the notice of annual general
meeting and in the proxy statement furnished herewith.

This broxy when properly executed will be voted in the manner directed herein by the
undersigned shareholder. If no direction is made, this proxy will be voted FOR the
following proposals:

PROPOSAL NO. 1: Re-elect the following directors to serve for the ensuing year and until
their successors are elected and duly qualified:

1. Ted Sun 5. Michael Sui Bau Tong
2. William Lei Ding 6. Kathy Xin Xu .

3. Mary Nee 7. John Lau

4. Denny Lee

[ ] FOR ALL NOMINEES [ ] AGAINST ANY INDIVIDUAL [ ] WITHHOLD AUTHORITY TO
NOMINEE (WRITE NUMBER(S)  VOTE FOR ANY INDIVIDUAL
OF NOMINEE(S) BELOW). NOMINEE (WRITE NUMBER(S)
OF NOMINEE(S) BELOW).
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PROPOSAL NO. 2: Re-appoint Arthur Andersen ® Hua Qiang as independent auditors of the
Company for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2002.

[ ] FOR [ ]  AGAINST [ ] ABSTAIN
DATED: , 2002
SHAREHOLDER NAME:
Signature
Signature

This proxy should be marked, dated and signed by the shareholder(s) exactly as his or her
name appears on their stock certificate, and returned promptly in the enclosed envelope.
Persons signing in a fiduciary capacity should so indicate. If shares are held by joint
tenants or as community property, both should sign. '

Please date, sign and mail this
proxy card back as soon as possible!
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Letter To Our Fellow Shareholders

Dear Shareholders,

“First, let us express our sincere gratitude fér the §quport,yo\u_ have given us throughout 2001, which was a challenging

- year for the Internet sector wé'rid\}vidé."O'Ur"‘torh.ﬁany‘élso faced particular hurdles during the year, such as senior

management changes, the restatement of our financial statements for the year 2000, and the temporary suspension
of trading of our American Depositary Shares on the Nasdaq National Market. Despite these hurdles, our operations
have continued their rapid gro.wth,-and'th'e‘NétEase Web sites remain one of the most popular online destinations

for Internet-tsers in China.

Lboe

, Wlth Ifhé'dedicéted work of our staff, we had numerous meaningful achievements during last year. For example, the

NetEase Web sites have experienced consistent growth in the number of registered users and average daily pageviews.
At the end of last year, the NetEase Web sites had 43.2 million registered users, an increase of 213% from the
beginning of the year, and average daily pageviews increased 149% to 174.4 million. We also expanded the range
of products and services we offer to enrich the user experience when visiting the NetEase Web sites. We will
continue to strive to improve the content and service offering on the NetEase Web sites in order to ensure that our

strong market position can be maintained.

Notwithstanding the healthy growth in the popularity of the NetEase Web sites, we reported a decline in total
revenue for last year, due mainly to a decrease in advertising revenue, but mitigated in part by an increase in other
revenues. The decrease in advertising revenue resulted primarily from the general slowdown and intense competition
in the online advertising market, as well as the turnover in our management and staff. However, with a somewhat
improved climate in the online advertising market and the enhancement of our management team, we have seen a
recovery in our advertising sales activities recently, which we hope will continue for the remainder of 2002. Toward

this goal, we will continue to bring innovative marketing solutions to our advertising clients.

In addition to online advertising, a key pillar of our strategy has been to explore ways to monetize the enormous user
base of the NetEase Web sites. We have experienced initial success in this strategy by launching a series of new fee-
based premium services during last year, such as wireless services (including Short Messaging Services), paid Web
hosting services, fee-based premium e-mail (for both corporate and individual users), online games and other services.
We believe that such services have been weli-received by our users, in particular the wireless services. As a result of
this strategy of broadening our revenue sources, we were able to achieve a substantial increase in our revenue
derived from e-commerce and other services last year.

I
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We believe that the Internet industry in China has reached a point where users have started to understand the
benefits of fee-based value-added services, and we are committed to capturing more revenue opportunities in this
area. In addition to continuously refining and imp'rov.in;q our existing services, we plan to further identify new
market opportunities and thereby develop new value-added services to suit our users’ interests and needs. In

particular, wireless services and online games have been two areas of focus.

In connection with our introduction of a new online game, “Westward Journey Online,” at the end of last year, we
have introduced a prepaid debit point card which we expect will facilitate the usability and growth of all of our fee-
based services. Traditionally, making online payments in China has been problematic for a variety of reasons, which
has inhibited the use of paid services. To address this problem, we launched the “NetEase point card” which users
can buy for cash at local stores and other locations in China. The points contained in this card can then be used to
pay for the use of various online services offered on the NetEase Web sites, such as playing time for online games.
We believe that advances such as this which enable users to more easily access and enjoy our many services are key

to our future growth.

Although the path to profitability is challenging and often unpredictable, we believe we are on the right track. We
look forward to that exciting challenge, and we thank you once again for your past and future support of our

company.

Sincerely,
Ted Sun
Acting Chief Executive Officer
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Management’s Discussion and
- Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations

Borgn st A N

*This report contams forwara’ Iookrng statements within, the meanmg of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21 of the Securities Exchange

o vct.vof 7934 mclud:ng, w:thout limitation, statements regard/ng our expectations, beliefs, intentions or future strateg:es that are signified by the words

“expect”, “anticipate”, "intend”, “believe”, or similar language. All forward-looking statements included in this Annual Report are based on information
available to us on the date hereof, and we assume no obligation to update any such forward-looking statements. Actual results could differ materially from
those pro;ected in the forward Iookmg statements. W‘e‘éautyon you that our businesses and financial performance are subject to substantial risks and

~uncertdinties.

Overview

NetEase is a leading Internet technology company in China. Our innovative online communities and personalized
premium services, which allow registered users to interact with other community members, have established a large
and stable user base for the NetEase Web sites which are operated by our affiliate. As of March 31, 2002, we had

more than 50 million registered users, and our average daily page views exceeded 200 million.

In 2001, we continued to develop our various fee-based premium services and online entertainment services, including
wireless services , premium e-mail services for both corporate and individual users, online games and other
subscription-type products. We believe that we will continue to rely on advertising revenues as one of our primary
revenue sources for the foreseeable future, but we anticipate that the revenues generated by these fee-based premium

services and online entertainment services will also constitute a significant portion of our future revenues.

We have incurred significant net losses and have had negative cash flows since our inception. As of December 31,
2001, our accumulated deficit was RMB454.1 million (US$54.9 million). We anticipate incurring net losses for the
foreseeable future. These losses have been funded principally with proceeds from the issuance of our American

Depositary Shares at our initial public offering, which was completed in July 2000.

Our critical accounting policies regarding our recognition of revenues are discussed under the heading “Revenues”
below.

Our corporate structure

NetEase.com, Inc. was incorporated in the Cayman Isiands on July 6, 1999 as an Internet technology company in

China. As of December 31, 2001, we had three directly wholly owned subsidiaries, NetEase information Technology
* (Beijing) Co., Ltd., or NetEase Beijing, NetEase Information Technology (Shanghai) Co., Ltd., or NetEase Shanghai,

and NetEase (U.S.) Inc., or NetEase US. ‘NetEase Beijing and NetEase US were established before 2000, and NetEase

Shanghai was established on May 14, 2000.
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Beijing NetEase Interactive Network Technology Co., Ltd., or NetEase INT, was established on November 28, 2000
by our company and NetEase Beijing, which owned 80% and 20%, respectively, of the equity interest in NetEase
INT. Nettase INT remained dormant since its establishment. On March 4, 2002, an apprdval was obtained from

the relevant Chinese authorities for its dissolution.

As the exclusive Internet technology provider to Guangzhou NetEase Computer System Co. Ltd., or Guangzhou
NetEase, we provide a variety of Internet applications, technologies and services to support Guangzhou NetEase's
operation of the NetEase Web sites and our e-commerce related services.

Guangzhou NetEase is a limited liability company organized under the laws of China and is controlled and owned by
our principal shareholder. Guangzhou NetEase has been approved by the Chinese authorities to operate as an
Internet content provider and operates the NetEase Web sites. Guangzhou NetEase's 80% owned subsidiary, Beijing
Guangyitong Advertising Co., Ltd., or Guangyitong Advertising, is licensed by the Chinese authorities to operate an

advertising business and engages in Internet-related advertising design, production and dissemination.

We have entered into a series of contractual arrangements with Guangzhou NetEase and Guangyitong Advertising
with respect to the operation of the NetEase Web sites and the provision of advertising services. Our services to

Guangzhou NetEase and Guangyitong Advertising constitute the majority of our operations.

Revenues

Our total revenues decreased from RMB33.0 million in 2000 to RMB28.3 million (US53$3.4 million) in 2001. We
generate our revenues from advertising services, e-commerce and other services and software licensing and related
integration projects. In mid-1998, we changed our business model from a software developer to an Internet technology
company. In July 1999, we began to offer e-commerce platforms and to provide online auction services in China

through Guangzhou NetEase.

Other than revenues from our related parties, Guangzhou NetEase and Guangyitong Advertising, no customer.
individually accounted for greater than 10% ‘of our total revenues for 2000 and 2001. This compares with two
customers to whom we provided Internet advertising services that individually represented greater than 10% of our

“total revenues for 1999.

- “Réevenues from barter transactions primarily relate to advertising and decreased in 2000 and 2001 as a result of the
.development of our business. As our business grew and our cash resources improved, we were able to enter into
more cash transactions and became less reliant on barter transactions in provrdrng or receiving services. Prior to
]anuary 20, 2000, bartet transactions were recorded at the estimated fair market value of the services received or
estimated fair market value of the services provided, whichever was more readily determinable. Effective from
~January 20, 2000, we adopted the consensus reached in Emerging Issue Task Force, or EITF 99-17, to account for
barter transactions. Actording to EITF 99-17, réveniue and expense should be recognized at fair value from an
advertrsrng barter transaction only. if-the fair valueof the advertrsrng surrendered in the transaction is determrnab|e
“baséd on the entity's own historical practice of recervrng cash, marketable securities, or other consideration that is
readily convertible to a known amount of cash for similar advertising from buyers unrelated to the counterparty in
the barter transaction. In 2000 and 2001, the recognized revenues and expenses derived from barter transactions
" were RMBO.7 million (US$0.1 million) for each of those years. We also engaged in some advertising barter transactions
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in 2000 and 2001 for which the fair value is not determinable within the limits of EITF 99-17, and therefore no
revenues or expenses derived from these barter transactions were recognized. These transactions primarily involved
exchanges of advertising services rendered by us for advertising, promotional benefits and information content

provided by the counterparties.

Advertising services.revenues S

We-currently derive our advertising services revenues from fees we earn from Guangyitong Advertising for services
that we provide in connection with advertisements placed on the NetEase Web sites and advertising-related technical
consulting services. Prior-to 2000, we also received advertlsmg services revenue from fees we received from advertisers
on the NetEase Web sites:-

" We have entered ifito aﬁ'ag}een{e}ii \-/;/ith Guangyitong Advertising under which we are the exclusive provider of
advertising-related technical consulting services to Guangyitong Advertising, and under which we receive a service
fee. Since December 1999, we have recognized advertising services revenues that we earn through this arrangement
as services are rendered and the 'sé’rvAicé‘ re;/enues are earned under the agreement. The service fee that we charge
‘includes substant»ally all of, the advemsmg revenues of Guangyitong Advertising, net of a 5% business tax, a 3%
cultural development fee and certain surcharges that apply to these revenues. We recognize advertising services

" revenues from Guangyitong Advertising at the same time that Guangyitong Advertising recognizes its advertising

revenues.

Guangyitong Advertising derives its advertising fees principally from short-term advertising contracts. Revenues
from advertising contracts are generally recognized ratably over the period in which the advertisement is displayed
and collection of the resulting receivables is probable. Guangyitong Advertising's obligations to the advertisers
typically also include guarantees of a minimum number of impressions or times that an advertisement appears in
pages viewed by users. These types of advertising contracts are known as CPM contracts. As a result, to the extent
that minimum guaranteed impressions are not met within the contractual time period, Guangyitong Advertising
defers recognition of the corresponding revenues until the remaining guaranteed impression levels are achieved.
We anticipate that the proportion of revenue generated from CPM contracts to total advertising revenue will decrease
in the near future as we have been more focused recently on entering into advertising contracts which fees are
based on the actual time period that the advertisements appear on the NetEase Web sites rather than based on

guaranteed minimum impressions.

E-commerce and other services revenues

We currently derive all our e-commerce and other services revenues from fees earned pursuant to a series of agreements:
with Guangzhou NetEase under which we provide Internet portal and e-commerce technologies and advertising
services to Guangzhou NetEase in exchange for a service fee. Since December 1999, we have recognized e-commerce
and other services revenues that we earn through this arrangement as the services are rendered and the services
revenues are earned under the e-commerce and other services agreements. The service fee that we charge includes
substantially all of the e-commerce and other services revenues recognized by Guangzhou NetEase, net of a 5.5%
business tax and certain surcharges that apply to these revenues. Prior to 2001, we derived our e-commerce related
services revenues from third parties as well as from Guangzhou NetEase. We recognize services revenues from

" Guangzhou NetEase at the same time that Guangzhou NetEase recognizes its e-commerce and other services revenues.

1
r Management's Discussion and Analysis



Guangzhou NetEase earns its e-commerce related services revenues from the NetEase Web sites’ online shopping
mall, online auctions, referral fees from e-commerce companies‘,k and e-commerce solutions.

Guangzhou NetEase launched our online shopping mall platform in July 2000. As of March 31, 2002, this online
shopping mall had 33 “online stores” operated by merchant tenants. From the fourth quarter of 2001, all of the
online stores paid Guangzhou NetEase fixed service fees, which Guangzhou NetEase recognized ratably over the
period of the leases of the e-commerce platforms. Prior to that, a small portion of the online stores paid Guangzhou
NetEase commissions based on that merchant's revenues and we also received referral fees from online shopping
mall partners of the NetEase Web sites. Each online shopping mall partner paid Guangzhou NetEase a commission,

based on revenues which it earns from these referrals.

Prior to October 2000, Guangzhou NetEase earned revenues from services to online auction sellers, whether businesses
or consumers, which Guangzhou NetEase recognized ratably over the period of the lease of our e-commerce platform.
In October 2000, we established a co-branded online trading and auction channel in partnership with EachNet,
China's fargest auctl:on site. We earn both fixed upfront fees and referral fees from EachNet. EachNet has informed
us that it considers our contract regarding our co-branded Web site arrangements has been terminated in 2002, and
to date, we have been unable to resolve this issue or to enter into a new agreement. However, our co-branded Web
site remains in operation. We cannot predict whether our business arrangements with EachNet will remain in effect
or be modified or terminated in the future, and accordingly, we can provide no assurance that we will receive any

further revenue in connection with our co-branded Web site.

Guangzhou NetEase generates revenues from referral fees paid by e-commerce partners of the NetEase Web sites,

based on click-through rates or user referral rates.

Guangzhou NetEase's e-commerce solutions services have been changed from platform testing and software solutions
services to online shopping mall, auction and news publishing conducted through the Internet. These revenues are

recognized upon completion of the respective total contract and acceptance by the customer.

As ment:oned previously, we contlnued to develop our various fee-based premium services and online entertainment
services in 2001 . which include wireless services, premium e-mail services for both corporate and individual users,
.-online games ar_yd other subscription-type services. Some of these services have commenced to generate revenues

- for Guangzhou NetEase in 2001.

‘In 2001, Guangzhou NetEase received wireless services revenues from its customers vxa two China mobile phone
o companies, which charged-Guangzhou NetEase'services fees. Guangzhou NetEase recognizes its share of revenues
and services fees when services are provided based on confirmations from these mobile phone companies and, in
_some instances, on our management’s estimates after consultation with the mobile phone company. The amount
ré‘c'ognizéd' is then adjusted, if necessary, to'actual cash receipts we receive. For the other fee-based premium
services, Guangzhou NetEase received most of the revenues: directly from its customers. Revenues from such fee-
based premium services were recorded on a net basxs ratably over the penod when services are prowded We
anticipate that revenues from wireless services and premlum e-mail services will continue to grow in 2002 as income

levels and familiarity with new technologies continue to grow in China.
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Software licensing and related integration projects revenues

Prior to 2000, software licensing and related integration projects revenues consisted of fees received from licensing,
services and post-contract customer support. We ceased our software licensing and related integration projects
business in 1999. Our revenues in 2000 and 2001 consisted only of the recognition of deferred revenue which was

brought forward for post-contract customer support.

We generally provide our customers with post-cohtract support, for one year or less, on our software products. Such
support is generally hot-line support and may involve unspecified upgrades or enhancements. For post-contract

support services that are-for-a period of one year or less, we recognize revenues when the following criteria are met:

¢ persuasive evidence of an arrangement;
- s -~ delivery has occurred and services have been performed;
* the sales amount is fixed or determinable; and

* the collectibility is probable.

*We’o‘c‘casAionéIly provide post-contract support services that extend beyond one year. In such event, we would

recognize revehu'_e§ for apbvi'icabie contracts ratably over the terms of those contracts. Although we continue to
Aperform'bc'casion.al projects in this area for customers upon request, we expect this category of revenues to remain
immaterial to our business.

Cost of Revenues

Advertising, e-commerce and other services costs
Advertising, e-commerce and other services costs represent those direct costs for operating the NetEase Web sites,
which consist primarily of server custody and bandwidth fees, content fees, staff costs, depreciation and amortization

of computers and software, and other direct costs.

NetEase Beijing, NetEase Shanghai and Guangzhou NetEase lease bandwidth from China Telecom affiliates. NetEase
Beijing and Guangzhou NetEase have network servers co-located in facilities owned by China Telecom'’s affiliates, for
which they pay custody fees to China Telecom. We pay our bandwidth lease payments and server custody fees on
a monthly basis. In addition, as a result of our arrangements with Guangzhou NetEase, we also pay for Guangzhou
NetEase's bandwidth lease payments and server custody fees on a monthly basis. These costs are recognized in full

as incurred.
Staff costs consist primarily of compensation expenses for our e-commerce and editorial professionals.

We depreciate our computer equipment, software and other assets (other than leasehold improvement) on a straight-

line basis over their estimated useful lives, which range from one to five years.

Software licensing and related integration projects costs
We did not incur any costs relating to software licensing and related integration projects in both 2000 and 2001
" after the cessation of the business in 1999.
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Operating Expenses

Operating expenses include selling, general and administrative expenses and research and development expenses.
Selling, general and administrative expenses

Selling, general and administrative expenses consist primarily of marketing and advertising; salary and welfare expenses
and share compensation costs; office rental; recruiting expenses; and travel expenses. We depreciate leasehold
improvements, which are included in our operating expenses, on a straight-line basis over the lesser of the relevant
lease term or their estimated useful fives.

Research and development expenses

Research and development expenses consist principally of compensation for our research and development
professionals.

Share Compensation Costs

In December 1999, we adopted a stock incentive plan, called the 1999 Stock Incentive Plan, for our employees,
senior management and advisory board. In 2000, we replaced the 1999 Stock Incentive Plan with a new stock
option plan, called the 2000 Stock Incentive Plan. The 2000 Stock Incentive Plan was subsequently amended and
restated in May 2001. During 2000 and 2001, we granted options to our employees, directors, consultants, a
member of our advisory board and certain members of our senior management under the 2000 Stock incentive
Plan. The vesting period for these options generally ranges from two years to four years. In addition, certain of the
options granted were cancelled as a result of the resignation of these personnel.

In connection with the above option grants, the net balance of the deferred compensation costs was approximately
RMB2.0 million (US$0.2 million) as of December 31, 2001, which is to be amortized and charged to expense
starting from the grant date and through the end of the vesting periods of the underlying options.

For 2001, we recorded share compensation costs of approximately RMB2.4 million (US3$0.3 million). These costs
have been allocated to (i) advertising, e-commerce and other services costs, (ii) selling, general and administrative
expenses and (iii) research and development expenses, depending on the functions for which these personnel and
employees are responsible. We expect that share compensation costs in 2002 may increase as a result of the.
possible recruitment of additional management personnel and the granting of new share options to these personnel
and other members of our staff.

_Income Taxes

; Under the current laws of the Cayman Islands, we are not subject to tax on income or capital gain. However, our
revenues are primarily derived from our Chinese subsidiaries. Chinese companies are generally subject to a 30%
national enterprise income tax, or EIT, and a 3% local income tax. Our subsidiary, NetEase Beijing, received the
: 'relevant approval to be recognlzed as a "New and ngh Technology Enterprise”. According to the approval granted
by the Haididn State Tax Bureau in"November 2000, NetEase Beijing is entitled to a reduced EIT rate of 15%
commencing from the year 2000. In addition, the approval also granted NetEase Beijing with a full exemption from
EIT from 2000 to 2002, a 50% reductlon in EIT from 2003 to 2005, and a full exemption from the local tax from
2000 onwards. ‘ : v

“NetEase Shangha| is subject to EIT at the rate of 30% plus a’ local tax of 3%. For the years ended December 31,
1999, 2000 and 2001. -

Guangzhou NetEase is a Chinese domestic enterprise and is generally subject to a 33% EIT. However, Guangzrho'u
NetEase was categorized as a small-sized tax payer by the local tax bureau of Guangzhou, China. According to the
relevant tax circulars issued by the local tax bureau of Guangzhou, Guangzhou NetEase is subject to different EIT
rates depending on the nature of its taxable revenues.
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If the activities of NetEase.com, Inc. constitute a-permanent establishment in China, the income it earns in China
would also be subject to a 30% EIT and 3% local income tax. Income of our company that is not connected to a
permanent establishment in China would be subject to a 10% withholding tax on gross receipt from profit, interest,
rentals, royalties and other income earned in China. Dividends from NetEase Beijing to our company are exempt
from-Chinese withholding tax.

We are generally subject to a business tax of 59 on our service revenues. Prior to the cessation of our software
licensing and related integration projects business in 1999, we earned revenues from the sale of computer hardware
purchased on behalf of customers...Such revenues were generally subject to a 17% value added tax, which was
~offset by value added taxes paid on purchases.. -
 NetEase Beijing Had tax 10ss-carryforwards of approximately RMB162.4 million (US$19.6 million) as of December
31 , 2001 for EIT purposes. Approximately RMB6.6 million (US$0.8 million), RMB75.3 million (US$9.1 million) and
RMBB0.5 million (US$9.7 million) of such losses will ‘expire in 2004, 2005 and 2006, respectively. NetEase Shanghai
had tax loss carryforwards of approximatefy RMB44.8 million (US$5.4 million) as of December 31, 2001 for EIT
_purposes.: Approxtmately RMBZB 5 m|II|on (US$2 8 million) and RMB21.3 million (US$2.6 million) of such losses
will expnre in 2005 and 2006 respectuvely " A valuation allowance has been provided to offset gross deferred tax
_ assets due to the- uncertamty surrounding the realizability of such assets. There can be no assurance that NetEase

Bet;mg and NetEase Shanghai will be able to utilize net operating loss carryforwards before their expiration.

In addition, the preferential EIT tax treatments that NetEase Beijing obtained may be subject to review by higher
authorities. If these preferential tax treatments were not available to NetEase Beijing, it would be subject to EIT at
30% plus a local tax of 3% and the exemption and reduction described above would not apply. In that case, the tax
impact of the loss carryforwards and the valuation allowance as of December 31, 2001 would have been higher by
approximately RMB29.2 million.

Material Commitments

As of December 31, 2001, we had lease commitments for office rentals of RMB6.9 million (US$0.8 million),
RMB1.9 million (US$0.2 million) and RMB1.3 million (US$0.2 million) payable in 2002, 2003 and 2004 respectively.
In additional, we had lease commitments for server custody fee of RMB11.3 million (US$1.4 million) payable in
2002.

Outstanding Litigation and Contingent Liabilities

Beginning in October 2001, four substantially identical purported class action complaints alleging violations of the
federal securities laws were filed in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York naming our
company, certain of our current and former officers and directors, and the underwriters of our initial public offering
as defendants. To date, the complaints have not been consolidated into a single action. The above lawsuits seek
certification as a class action to represent those persons who purchased our American Depositary Shares during the
period from july 3, 2000 to August 31, 2001. In general, the complaints allege, among other things, that (i) our
initial public offering violated the U.S. securities laws because the financial statements accompanying the offering’s
registration statement misstated our revenue; and (ii) we committed securities fraud by materially misstating our

revenue in our 2000 financial statements.

At the present time, we cannot estimate what damagés,, if éhy, may be payable in connection with this litigation.
The ultimate resolution of this matter may have a material adverse impact on the results of operations in the period
in which it is resolved.
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Consolidated Results of Operations

The following table sets forth a summary of our audited consolidated statements of operations for the periods

indicated both in Renminbi and as a percentage of total revenues:

Revenues:

Advertising services (including revenues of RMB818,075,
RMB30,067,477 and RMB 14,163,952 (US$ 1,711,325)
from related parties in 1999, 2000 and 2001, respectively)

E-commerce and other services {including revenues of nil,
RMB1,094,859 and RMB14,103,151 (US$1,703,978)
from a related party in 1999, 2000 and 2001, respectively)

Software licensing and related integration projects

. Total revenues

Sales and value-added taxes

Net revenues

Cost of revenues:

Advertising, e-commerce and other services (including cost
reimbursements to a related party of RMB1,974,834,
RMB2,098,127 and RMB796,454 (US$96,230) in 1999,
2000 and 2001, respectively)

Software licensing and related integration projects

Share compensation cost*

Total cost of revenues

Gross profit (loss on revenues)

Operating expenses:

Selling, general and administrative expenses (including cost
reimbursements to a related party of RMB466,259,
RMB3,124,247 and RMB1,884,823 (US3$227,729) in
1999, 2000 and 2001, respectively)

Asset impairment loss

Research and development expenses

Share compensation cost*

Total operating expenses
' Operating loss

© - Other income (expenses):

- . Salés of 163.net usage rights
{nvestment impairment loss
Interest income

- . Interest expense
Other, net

""Loss before tax
Provision for income tax

" Net loss

* Share compensation cost

" Cost of revenues ~ advertising, e-commerce and other services

Selling, general and administrative expenses
Research and development expenses

For the year ended December 31,

Management's Discussion and Analysis

1999 2000 2001

RMB % RMB % RMB %
10,796,074 64.4 30,067,477  91.2 14,163,952 50.0
2,459,101 14.6 2,455,834 7.4 14,103,151 49.9
3,515,831 21.0 450,350 14 33,218 0.1
16,771,006  100.0 32,973,661  100.0 28,300,321  100.0
(1,150,169)  (6.9) (2,476,444)  (7.5) (2,274,784)  (8.0)
15,620,837  93.1 30,497,217 925 26,025,537  92.0
(5,540,600)  (33.0) (38,738,335) (117.4) (60,058,488) (212.3)
(258,819)  (1.5) - - - -
(6,296,816) (37.6) (1,171,084)  (3.6) - -
(12,096,235)  (72.1) (39,909,419) (121.0) (60,058,488) (212.3)
3,524,602 21.0 (9,412,202)  (28.5) (34,032,951) (120.3)
(16,709,221)  (99.6)  (162,922,561) (494.1)  (181,560,624) (641.5)
- - - - (2,766,543)  (9.8)
. (964,855)  (5.8) (9,525,436)  (28.9) (11,169,454)  (39.5)
(39,116,583) (233.2) (12,668,476)  (38.4) (2,357,758)  (8.3)
(56,790,659) (338.6)  (185,116,473) (561.4)  (197,854,379) (699.1)
(53,266,057) (317.6)  (194,528,675) (589.9)  (231,887,330) (819.4)
1,500,000 8.9 - - - -
- - - - (8,924,381) (31.5)
357,160 2.1 27,858,710 845 17,571,187  62.1
- - (2,589,735)  (7.9) (9,882,874)  (35.0)
(494,018)  (2.9) (9,099) - (40,516)  (O.1)
(51,902,915) (309.5)  (169,268,799) (513.3)  (233,163,914) (823.9)
(71,338)  (0.4) - - - -
Y(51:974,253) (309.9)  (169,268,799) (513.3)  (233,163,914) (823.9)
(6,296,816)  (37.6) (1,171,084)  (3.6) - -
(34,346,268) (204.8) (7.437,230)  (22.6) (204,423)  (0.7)
(4,770,315)  (28.4) (5,231,246) (15.8) (2,153,335)  (7.6)
(45,413,399) (270.8) (13,839,560) (42.0) (2,357,758)  (8.3)
10




Year Ended December 31,2001 compa'redwto Year Ended December 31, 2000

In 2001, revenues from advertising services, e-commerce and other services and software licensing and related
integration projects constituted 50.0%, 49.9% and 0.1%, respectively, of our total revenues. This compares with
91.2%, 7.4% and 1.4%, respectively, of our total revenues in 2000. Our advertising services revenues decreased
significantly during.2001:primarily due to the softening of the Internet advertising market in China which led to a
decrease in the demand for advertising oﬁ the NetEase Web sites, and the intense market competition which affected
the general pncmg in the Internet advertising market in China. Conversely, revenues from our e-commerce and
Sther services increased sngmﬂcantly during 2001 mainly as a result of the fixed upfront fees and referral fees that we
‘earned from EachNet in-connectior.with: the' operatlon of our co-branded tradmg and auction Web site and the
services. Flnally, in 2001 our software Ilcensmg and related integration pro;ects revenue further decreased as we
had previously ceased this line of business but continued to earn fees for post-contract customer support. We
expect that advertising and e-commerce and.other services will continue to constitute the primary sources of our
future revenues. e

Revenues
- Total révenues decreased by 14.2% to RMB28.3 million (US$3.4 million) in 2001 from RMB33.0 million in 2000.
Advertising services revenues decreased by 52.9% to RMB14.2 million (US$1.7 million) in 2001 from RMB30.1
mitlion in 2000, primarily as a result of the softening of the Internet advertising market in China which led to a
decrease in demand for advertising on the NetEase Web sites, and the intense market competition which affected
the general pricing in the Internet advertising market in China. Average revenue per advertiser decreased from
approximately RMB96,000 (US$11,600) in the first quarter to RMB46,000 (US$5,500) in the fourth quarter of 2001.
The number of contracted advertisers using the NetEase Web sites decreased from 231 in 2000 to 174 in 2001, with
revenues from our top ten advertisers comprising 40.3% of our total advertising services revenues in 2001 as compared
to 34.4% in 2000. Despite the recent weakness in the market, we expect that the online advertising market in China
will grow as Internet usage in China increases and as more companies accept the Internet as an effective advertising

medium.

Revenues from e-commerce and other services increased by 474.3% to RMB14.1 million (US$1.7 million) in 2001
from RMB2.5 million in 2000, mainly as a result of the amortization of the upfront service fee recognized in 2001 of
RMB1.0 million (US$0.1 million) and quarterly referral fees of approximately RMB3.3 million (US$0.4 million) that
we earned from EachNet. As mentioned previously, EachNet has informed us that it considers our contract regarding
our co-branded trading and auction Web site has been terminated in 2002, and while we are in the process of
negotiating with EachNet, it is possible that our current business arrangements could be modified or terminated,
which in either case could have a material adverse effect on our e-commerce revenues in future periods. In addition,
the increase in total revenues from fee-based services in 2001, predominantly from wireless services and to a lesser
extent from premium e-mai! and other services, totaled RMB6.7 million (US$0.8 million).

We ceased our software licensing and related integration projects business in 1999. Our revenues in 2000 and 2001
consist only of the recognition of deferred revenue 'which was brought forward for post-contract customer support
and totaled RMB33,000 (US$4,000) in 2001, cg"m:p'ared to RMB450,000 in 2000. In 2002, we provided certain
corporate solution services fo 'a'cu‘sto‘r'h‘er in conﬁect'ion with the purchase of servers and computer equipment,
development of software and custody and main‘teﬁ‘ancetof servers. We cannot predict whether we will continue to
earn revenues from similar transactions in the foreseeable future, but we expect that we will provide these or other

similar services to customers upon request.
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Cost of revenues T

Our cost of revenues increased by 50.5% to RMB60.1 million (US$7.3 mittion) in 20071 from RMB39.9 million in
2000, primarily due to the overall expansion of our business, inclﬁding in particular the increase in Internet connection
costs, such as server related and bandwidth costs to support the large increase in traffic on the NetEase Web sites,
offset in part by a decrease in staff costs. The average da||y page views on the NetEase Web sites in December 2001
was approximately 174 million as compared to approximately 70 million in December 2000. As a result, our loss on
revenues increased to RMB34.0 million (US$4.1 million) in 2001 from RMB9.4 million in 2000.

Staff costs consisted primarily of compensation expenses for our e-commerce and editorial professionals and comprised
15.2% of our total cost of revenues in 2001, compared with 20.8% in 2000. The decrease was mainly due to the
reduction in the number of employees during 2001. We expect that staff costs as a percentage of our total cost of

revenues will remain stable in the near term.

Depreciation and amortization of computers and software comprised 22.6% of our total cost of revenues in 2001,
compared with 17.2% in 2000. The increase was mainly due to the increase in the number of servers during 2001.
As we have spent or plan to spend approximately RMB14.7 million (US$1.8 million) towards the purchase of additional

servers and switches in 2002, we expect our depreciation expenses to increase in 2002.

Operating expenses

Total operating expenses increased by 6.9% to RMB197.9 million (US$23.9 million) in 2007 from RMB185.1 million
in 2000. Operating expenses as a percentage of total revenues increased from 561.4% in 2000 to 699.1% in 2001.
The increase in 2001 was mainly due to the substantial fees charged by third parties as discussed in the next
paragraph.

Selling, general and administrative expenses increased by 6.7% to RMB181.8 million (US$22.0 million) in 2001
from RMB170.4 million in 2000, primarily due to certain expenses of more than RMB50 million (US$6.0 million) for
legal and professional fees and consuitancy fees in 2001. . '

Asset impairment.loss fép’rééeﬁts a provision for impairment loss on the software costs and other assets directly
S ""rél;at‘ing to the deve!opment of an online game of RMB2.8 million (US$0.3 million). The impairment loss relating to
"‘.;;the online game assets was estimated on the basis of the difference between the carrying value of the assets as of
,.;December 31, 2001 and the present value of the future cash flows which are likely to be generated from the

operation of the online game.

._::‘Ré’s'epa‘_;'c;'ﬁ;a‘n‘d development-expenses-decreased by’ 9.7% to RMBT3.3 million (US$1.6 million) in 2001 from
RMB14.8 million in 2000, primarily due to a decrease in share compensation costs as a result of the resignation of
- certain management staff in our technical department during 2001.

Other income (expenses) C s e e . i

Other income and: expenses.in 2001 mam|y conswted of the one time non- recurrlng prowsrons for the |mpa|rment
of our investments in a convertible note isstied” by Ladynow com: Corporatlon L|m|ted a corporatlon in which we
invested, and convertible preference shares issued by EachNet of RMB2.1 million (US$0 3 million) and -
RMB6.9-million (US$0 8 million), respectively, and net interest income of RMB7.7 million (US$0.9 million). The

provmon for the Ladynow convertible note was nece55|tated by Ladynow's cessation of operations in 2001. In turn,
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the EachNet shares were sold back to EachNet in March 2002, and the impairment charge for our investment in
EachNet in. 2001 represents the difference between our original cost of investment and the consideration paid for
the repurchase. The decrease in the net interest income in 2001 as compared with 2000 was due to the decrease in

our cash balance and the reduction of interest rates during 2001.
Year Ended December 31,2000 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 1999

Revenues

Total revenues increas‘ed 'by-‘96-‘.6% to RMB33.0 ‘million (US$4.0 million) in 2000 from RMB16.8 million in 1999,
Advertising services-revenues increased.by.-178.5% to-RMB30.1 million (US$3.6 million) in 2000 from RMB10.8
“‘million in 1999, primarily as a.result of-expanded Internet advertising operations and an increase in advertising
~ activity on the NetEase Web sites. Furthermore, average revenue per advertiser increased from RMB60,000
(US$7,000) in the first quarter of 2000 to RMB140,000 (US$17,000) in the fourth quarter of 2000. The number of
contracted advertisers increased from 110 in. 1999-to 231 in 2000, with revenues from our top ten advertisers

comprising 34.4% of»,our-total‘ad\‘/ser‘tisivng services revenues in 2000.

Revenues fromé-céhwr’nef&e*aﬁd bther services decreased by less than 1% to RMB2.5 million (US$0.3 million) in
2000 compared to 1999, primarily as a result of slower than anticipated growth of our e-commerce activities,
despite the establishment of a number of e-commerce partnerships with other companies. Revenues from the
NetEase Web sites’ online shopping mall, online auction platform, referral fees from e-commerce companies, and e-
commerce solutions were 25.9%, 43.5%, 11.9% and 18.7%, respectively, of total e-commerce related services

revenues in 2000.

We ceased our software licensing and related integration projects business in 2000 but continued to earn revenues
on post-contract services provided in 2000 from the recognition of deferred revenue which was brought forward for
integration projects which we worked on in 1999. Accordingly, our revenues from software licensing and related
integration projects decreased from RMB3.5 million in 1999 to RMB0.5 million (US$54,000) in 2000.

Cost of revenues

Our cost of revenues increased by 229.9% to RMB39.9 million (US$4.8 million) in 2000 from RMB12.1 million in
1999, primarily due to the overall expansion of our business.  Our server custody and bandwidth fees increased
with the growth of our business in 2000. We increased our staff from 137 employees at December 31, 1999 to 288
employees at December 31, 2000. As a result, we incurred loss on revenues of RMB9.4 million (US$1.71 million) in

2000, as compared with a gross profit of RMB3.5 million in 1999.

Staff costs consisted primarily of compensation expenses for our e-commerce and editorial professionals and comprised
20.8% of our total cost of revenues in 2000, compared with 14.1% in 1999,

Depreciation and amortization of computers and software comprised 17.2% of our total cost of revenues in 2000,
compared with 8.0% in 1999.
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Operating expenses ,

Operating expenses increased by 226.0% to RMB185.1 million in 2000 (US$22.4 mil]ion) from RMB56.8 million in
1999, primarily due to the overall expansion of our business. Operatihé‘expenses asa percentag-é_of total revenues
increased from 338.6% to 561.4% primarily as a result of the fact that our operating expenses grew at a faster rate
than our revenues from advertising and also as a result of the slight decline in revenues from our e-commerce

services in 2000 despite our significant investment in such services.

Selling, general and administrative expenses increased by 233.7% to RMB170.4 million (US$20.6 million) in 2000
from RMB51.1 million in 1999, primarily due to significant personnel increases in 2000. Selling, general and
administrative expenses also increased as a result of increased sales and marketing and advertising expenditures,
including our “Power to the People” advertising campaign. Our “Power to the People” advertising campaign
commenced in the third quarter of 2000. We spent RMB34.6 million (US$4.1 million) on this advertising campaign
in the third and fourth quarters of 2000 and saw our user base increase by over 50% in three months. In addition,
in 2000, we reimbursed Guangzhou NetEase a total of RMB5.2 million (US30.6 million) for the costs of operating
the NetEase Web site:s, compared to RMB2.4 million in 1999,

Research and development expenses increased by 157.3% to RMB14.8 million (US$1.8 million) in 2000 from
RMBS.7 million in 1999, primarily due to staff costs of RMB6.9 million (US$0.8 million).

Other income (expenses)

Other income, net of other expenses, increased from RMB1.4 million in 1999 to RMB25.3 million (US$3.1 million)
in 2000, which amount consisted primarily of net interest income. In 1999, other income, net of other expenses,
consisted of interest income of RMBO 4 million, proceeds from the disposal of the 163.net usage right of
RMB1.5 million, and a write-off due to the failure of one of our servers and the accrued tax penalties of
RMBO.5 million. The increase in net interest income in 2000 was due to the increase in cash balance arising from the
net cash proceeds from our initjal public offering in 2000.

Quarterly results of operations dq(q o

The following:table:sets forth selected unaudited quarterly consolidated statement of operations data for each of the

fouf"fiééa‘hrquar‘ter.‘s7for_ the year ended December 31, 2001 in Renminbi. Our management believes this data has

been'pr'éﬁié:r'éd' égbstantially on the same basis as the consolidated audited financial ez-tements, including all necessary

- ‘adjuStﬁ}Eﬁ‘tsl,' Egnsisting only of normal recurring adjustments, necessary for a fair presentation of such data. Operating
results for any quarter are not necessarily indicative of results for any future quarter. You should read the quarterly
~ data for the four quarters set forth below for the year ended December 31, 2001 in conjunction with our consolidated

"~ . financial. stét,emén‘tsfénd"t‘hev'reia'ted'n*otes included elsewhere in this annual report.
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Interest expense

Other, net

Loss before tax

Provmon for income tax~ )

‘ [.\Jj_ét loss.. -

Management's Discussion and Analysis

Ry

R T IE

ERP

Quarter Ended

September 30, 2001 December 31, 2001

March 31, 2001 June 30, 2001
(Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited)
RMB RMB RMB RMB

TN3TAA 338 e 3,458,315 4,191,949 3,069,350
1,554,986 2,025,123 3,017,458 7,505,584
. 5483438 7,209,407 10,574,934
(686,027 ) (529,796) (433,963) (624,998)

B 434651 5 4,953,642 6,775,444 9,949,936
(13,435,463 ) (16,888,961) (15,444,570) (14,289,494)
(13,435,463) (16,888,961) (15,444,570) (14,289,494)
(9,088,948) (11,935,319) (8,669,126) (4,339,558)
(45,526,863 ) (61,063,073) (45,465,590) (29,505,098)
_ - - (2,766,543)
-(2,891,847) (2,553,28%) (2,659,269) (3,065,057)
(3,184,177) 2,669,412 (1,058,507) (784,486)
(51,602,887 ) (60,946,942) (49,183,366) (36,121,184)
(60,691,835) (72,882,261) (57,852,492) (40,460,742)
(2,069,475 - (6,854,906) -
7,882,834 4,168,617 3,812,026 1,707,710
(2,458,847) (2,319,348) (2,605,658) (2,499,021)
(802) 4,950 - (44,664)
(57,338,125) (71,028,042) (63,501,030) (41,296,717)
/+(71,028,042) (63,501,030) (41,296,717)
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» demand for advertising on the Internet in general and on the NetEase Websités in partucu!ar
* our ability to successfully implement our e-commerce strategies;

» our ability to update and develop our Internet portal systems and infrastructure;

* our ability to develop new fee-based premium services;

e the receptiveness by users to such fee-based premium services;

¢ technical difficulties that users may experience on the NetEase Web sites;

* competition in Internet markets, including our competitors' performance in each of the above aspects;
s growth and acceptance of the Internet in China;

» changes in Chinese governmental regulations;

» general economic conditions in China; and

» the outcome of the litigation described above.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our capital requirements relate primarily to financing:

(1) our working capital requirements, such as bandwidth and server custody fees, staff costs, sales and marketing

expenses and research and development, and
(2) costs associated with the expansion of our business, such as the purchase of servers.

Operating activities

Cash used in operating activities was RMB185.7 million (US$22.4 million) in 2001 and RMB124.7 million and
RMB15.7 million in 2000 and 1999, respectively. In 2001,-cash used in operating activities consisted primarily of
our operating loss and decrease in accrued liabilities and amount due to related parties, offset in part by an increase
in accounts payable; salary and welfare payable, and decrease in prepayments and other current assets. In 2000,
cash used in operating activities consisted primarily of our operating loss and increases in prepayments and other

current. assets and due from related parties, offset in part by increases in accounts payable, salary and welfare

'.payabl‘éi‘and‘éther accrued liabilities. In 1999, cash used in operating activities consisted primarily of our operating

loss and increases in accounts receivable and prepayments and other current assets, offset in part by increases in
ccountswpayable sa|ary and welfare payab!e taxes payable and other accrued hablhtles
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- Investing. activities
=A.Cash used |n_|nvestlng actlvmes was RMB67 3 million (US$8.1 million) in 2001, RMB53.0 million in 2000 and
" RMBY. 3 million’in 1999"'In 2001 cash séd ininvesting-activities mainly consisted of the placing of term deposits
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primarily of the purchase of fixed :asse d"‘mvestment in= convertlble preferencershares which accounted for

&R ooy

64.1% and 31.2%, respectively, of total cash used in investing activities. Our mvestrnent in converible preference ~

"Shares coingided W|th our entering into an agreement to operate our co-branded trading and auction Web site with

NS e

chNet a prlvate Interhat Based-auction company These shares were subsequently sold in March 2002 back to
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Financing activities

Cash used in financing activities was RMB22.3 million (US$2.7 million) in 2001. Cash provided by financing activities
was RMB904.9 million and RMB142.6 million in 2000 and 1999, respectively. Substantially all of our cash is kept in
US dollars. In 2001, the cash used in financing activities mainly consisted of the repayment of bank loans of
RMB152.4 million (US$18.4 million) which was offset in part by proceeds from other bank loans totaling
-RMB123.8 million (US$15.0 million) and the recelpt in 2001 of additional net proceeds received from our issuance

" . of Series B preference shares in March 2000 of RM86 3 million (US$0.8 million). In 2000, the increase in cash

provided by financing activities was primarily due to the net proceeds from our issuance of Series B preference
‘shares in March 2000 of RMB283.5-million ‘and-our initial publlc offermg in July 2000 of RMB508.7 million and

- proceeds from-bank loans totaling RMB1L12:6 miillion: We- borrow Renminbi for our working capital purposes.

. We had no material commitments for capital expenditures as of December 31, 2001. Up to March, 31 2002, we

spent approximately RMB3.3 million (US$0.4 million) for servers and computer equipment, and as our business
grows, we plan to spend an additional approximately‘RMBH 4 million (US$1.4 million) in 2002 towards purchases
of addltlonal servers and switches in order to accommodate the expected increase in traffic on the NetEase Web

sites.

R

“Ournet losses have been funded by our cash resources (in particular the proceeds from our initial public offering in

July 2000) and to a lesser extent from cash generated from revenue growth. Although we have been striving to
enhance our revenues and stabilize or decrease our operating expenses, we cannot be certain these efforts will be
succcessful in future periods which could accelerate the depletion of our cash resources. In particular, as noted
previously, our selling, general and administrative expenses have remained relatively high due primarily to legal,
professional and consultancy fees, while our revenues from advertising services have decreased in conjunction with
the weakening of the online advertising market in China. Nonetheless, given the size of our net losses in recent
periods in comparison to our existing cash resources and revenues, we believe that such cash and revenues will be

sufficient for us to meet our obligations for the foreseeable future.

Research and Development

We believe that an integral part of our future success will depend on our ability to develop and enhance our products
and services. Our product development efforts and strategies consist of incorporating new technologies from third
parties as well as continuing to develop our own proprietary technology.

We have utilized and will continue to utilize the products and services of third parties to enhance our platform of
technologies and services to provide competitive and diverse Internet services to our users. We also have utilized
and will continue to utilize third-party advertisement serving technologies. In addition, we plan to continue to
expand our technologies, products and services and registered user base through diverse online community products
and services developed internally. We will seek to continually improve and enhance our existing products and
services to respond to rapidly evolving competitive and technological conditions. For the years 1999, 2000 and
2001, we spent RMB5.7 million, RMB14.8 million and RMB13.3 million (US$1.6 million), respectively, on company-
sponsored research and development activities.

» . .
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Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Interest rate risk

Our exposure to market rate risk for changes in interest rates relates primarily to the interest income generated by
excess cash invested in short term money market accounts and certificates of deposit. We have not used derivative
financial instruments in our investment portfolio. Interest earning instruments carry a degree of interest rate risk.
We have not been exposed nor do we anticipate being exposed to material risks due to changes in interest rates.

However, our future interest income may fall short of expectations due to changes in interest rates.

Foreign currency risk

Substantially all our revenues and expenses are denominated in Renminbi. We have not had any material foreign
exchange gains or losses. Although in general, our exposure to foreign exchange risks should be limited, the value
of our American Depositary Shares, or ADSs, will be affected by the foreign exchange rate between U.S. dollars and
Renminbi because the value of our business is effectively denominated in Renminbi, while our ADSs are traded in
U.S. dollars. In addition, a decline in the value of Renminbi could reduce the U.S. dollar equivalent of the value of
the earnings from, and our investments in, our subsidiaries and controlled entities in China. Furthermore, we have
pledged deposits totaling US$10.9 million as security for our Renminbi-denominated bank loans. These deposits are
exposed to foreign currency exchange risks. We have not engaged in any hedging activities. Therefore, we may

experience economic loss as a result of any foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In July 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Statements of Financial Accounting Standards
("SFAS") No. 141 “Business Combinations” and No. 142 “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets”. SFAS No. 141
applies to business combinations initiated after june 30, 2001. SFAS No. 141 requires that business combinations
must be accounted for using only the purchase method of accounting, as opposed to the pooling method. SFAS
No. 142 addresses financial accounting for acquired goodwill and other intangible assets and how such assets
should be accounted for in financial statements upon their acquisition and after they have been initially recognized
in the financial statements. SFAS No. 142 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2001. We do not
believe that the adoption of SFAS No. 141-and No. 142 will have a significant impact on our financial statements.

In October 2001, the FASB also issued SFAS No. 144 “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived
Assets,” which addresses financial accounting and reporting for the recognition and measurement of SFAS No. 121
“Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to be Disposed Of”. SFAS No. 144
is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after December 31, 2001. We do not believe that
the adoption of SFAS No. 144 will have a significant impact on our financial statements.

Trend Information

Other than as disclosed elsewhere in the annual report, we are not aware of any trends, uncertainties, demands,
commitments or events from the period of inception to December 31, 2001 that are reasonably likely to have a
material effect on our net revenues, income, profitability, liquidity or capital resources, or that caused the disclosed

financial information to be not netessarﬂy indicative of future operating results or financial conditions.

Exchange Rate _ _

The conversion of Renminbi into U.S. dollars in this report is based on the noon buying rate of US$1=RMB8.2766 on
December 31, 2001 in The City of New York for cable transfers of Renminbi as certified for customs purposes by the
Federal Reserve Bank of New York.
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o ‘responSIblhty is to > express an opinionZon:these fi

| | Report of Independent
e Pu b|IC Accountants

o We have audlted the accompanyungr consohdated balance sheets of NetEase com; Inc. (a Cayman Islands corporation) -
as of December 31, 2000 and 2001 and the related consohdated statements of operatrons and comprehenswe loss,
- shareholders equrty and cash flows for the years ended December 31, 1999 2000 and 2001 expressed in Chinese

Renmlnbr("RM_B") These ﬁnanual statements are the responsnbtllty of NetEase com, Inc s management Our- }

cnal statements based on. our audlts

o 5_‘:,We ‘conducted our audlts in accordance wuth genera!ly accepted audltlng standards in the Unrted States of America.

Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtaln reasonable assurance about whether the-
financial statements are free of material misstatement. .An aud|t mcludes examlnlng, on a test basis, evidence -
.supportlng the amounts and disclosures i in the financial statements An audit also includes assessnng the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management as well as evaluatlng the overall flnancral statement

-presentation. We believe that our audits provnde a reasonable basis for.our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
flnancral posmon of NetEase.com, Inc. as of December 31; 2000 and 2001 and the results of. its operations and its -
_cash flows for the years ended December 31 1999 2000 and 2001 in conformlty with generally accepted accountlng -
principles in the United States of America. »

Without‘qualifying our opinion, we d'raw attention to‘Note 17 to the consolidated financial statements which .
indicates that the Company and certain of its current and-former officers and directors are defendants of four.
substantially identical purported class action complamts aI|eg|ng v10lat:ons of the federal securities laws and commlttlng R
securities fraud in the United States’ Dlstrlct Court for the Southern District of New: York. At the present time, the
Company cannot estimate what damages if any, may be payable in connection with thIS litigation. The ultimate
resolution of this matter may have a material adverse impact on the results of operations in the period’in whsch itis

resolved.

Mt folesins - Han

Arthur Andersen ¢ Hua Qiang
Beijing, People's Republic of China

Heg

April 2, 2002
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NETEASE.COM, INC. |
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

Note
Assets
Current assets:
Cash S
Restricted cash . o . 4
Temporary cash investments. =" .. . )

Accounts receivable, net of a||owance of Lo
" doubtful accounts of RMB1,241, 715 and nil "
at December 31, 2000 and 2001,
respectlvely o
Prepayments and other current assets” 5
Due from related partles netof allowance of - R
doubtful accounts of RMB342, 737 and e .
RMB7,447,775 (US$899,859) at December - . S
31, 2000 and 2001 respectlvely * . 6.

Total current assets ‘
Non-current rental deposit. <~ " - ) .
! Investment in convertible note ~ -1 o L7
: Investrnent in convertible preference shares
Property, equipment and software net
Deferred asset

Total assets

r ) L|ab|||t|es & Shareholders Eqmty :
i Current liabilities: '

Accounts payable
-Salary and welfare payable -

Taxes payable - e B 2
Deferred revenue _ ws=="" \
. ngccrued liabilitiés. : . S 13 .

Due to relatéd,parties.: .~ - e

17

1,600, 000,000,000 shares a“uthcsnze L '
- ++3:010,555,600 shares issued and
outstanding as of December 31, 2000 and
/' +3,024,175,192 shares.issued and - »
““outstanding as of Decérrber 317 2001 TR TR LT

. Additional, paid-in caprtal
Less: Subscnptnons recéivable
‘Deférred ¢ompensationic< .- o
Translation ad]ustments T
,Accumulated deficit

R Y

; Total shareho|ders equity

.;faTotal ||ab|lmes & shareholders equlty

The accompanying nbtes are an,mtegral
Bt

f these financial statements.

December 31,

December 31,

December 31,

Short-term.bank loans - . ) S [

Consolidated Financial Statements

2000 2001 20071
RMB RMB uss
708,561,012 479,608,534 57,947,531,
136,052,705 90,308,448 10,911,298
- 45,521,300 5,500,000 .
684,888 - -
14,825,533 9,136,362 1,003,878
5,869,195 2,290,204 276,708
865,993,333 626,864,848 75,739,415
1,682,710 1,087,487 131,393
827,810 - - oD
16,556,199 9,701,293 1,172,135
35,362,091 - 36,356,088 4,392,636
673,407 783,352 94,647.
921,095,550 674,793,068 81,530,226
112,600,000 84,000,000 10,149,095 .
2 7,562,448 . 13,116,442 1,584,762,
6,732,037 9,936,211 1,200,518+
1,007,104 1,772,931 214,210
558,739 - =
18,781,557 10,937,950 1,321,552+~
1,313,229 - N
148,555,114 © 119,763,534 - 14,470,137 .
22,492,350 2,503,626 302,495
1,076,505,358  1,044,889,829 126,246,264
£7(47:829,909) - . (35,100,568) (4,240,940)
(37,306,585) " - (3,344,574) (404,100)"
. (348,586) 217,327 26,257 -
©(220,972,192)" . (454,136,106)  (54,869,887)
772,540,436 © 555,029,534 67,060,089
921,095,550 674,793,068 81,530,226
20




NETEASE COM, INC T e
: CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
_ ;»;‘i_.-_,: AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

For the year ended December 31,

TNete T 1999 2000 2001 2001
RMB B RMB - RMB uss

. Revenues:-. -
- Advertising services. (including revenues of RMB818:075,
= RVIB30;067,477 and RMBT43163,952(US$T,711 325) from "

refated parties in 1999, 2000 and 2001, respectlvely) )

.-k cpmmerce and other- serwces (mcludmg revenues of;

0,796,074 130,067,477 - 14,163,952 - 1,711,325

fromarelated party in 1999, 2000 and 2001, res | : 1512459101 7 2,455,834 14,103,151 1,703,978
tad Sjectss - 3,515,831 -~ 450,350 - 33218 4,013

' -'16 771,006 32,973,661 28,300,321 . 3,419,316
‘Sales and value-added taxes o oo, 150,169) © (2,476,444) (274784) (274,845)
Net revéhues Co 15,620,837 1 . 30,497,217 26,025,537 3,144,471
Cost of revenues: : ' o
Advemsmg, escommerce and other services (mcludm :
gz AT ~cost reimbursements to.a related party f:RMB1,9 A IRTI
ws R e 2
) and: 3 ) i . : ChL : ... (5,540,600)- .. (38,738,335) (60,058,488) (7,256,420) °
-_Soffware, licensing’ and-related integration prolect_s RN o e T (258,819) - - : s - -
- Share compensatlon cost* o ) : .(6,296,816) (1,171,084) : - -
: Total cost of revenues B PR L (12 096,235)  (39,909,419)  (60,058,488) (7,256,420)
, Gross profit (1oss on revenues) " G TR N, T 3524602 .- - (9,412,202) - (34,032,951) . (4,111,949)
: Operating expenses: R ‘ B ‘
: Selling, general and admmlstratwe expenses (|nc|udlng
) cost reimbursements to a related party of . -
B RMB466,259, RMB3,124,247 and RMB1,884, 823 . . C T . R .
> (US$227,729) in 1999, 2000 and 2001, respectxvely) .6 - (16,709,221y  (162,922,561)  (181,560,624) (21,936,619) .
: Asset impairment loss B . . - X - (2,766,543) (334,261)
) Research and development expenses b . o ' . {964,855) (9,525,436) (11,169,454) (1,349,522)
i Share compensatlon cost* : o L s 0 (39,116,583) - (12,668,476) {2,357,738) (284,870)_
{ Total operatmg expenses L ) : B . (56,790,659) (185,116,473) (197;854,379) (23,905,272) N
Operating loss R o UE » G '(53,266,05.7) (194,528,675) (231,887,330) (28,017,221) .
. Other income (expenses) S . C o
Sales of 163.net usage rights . e ' . o 1,500,000 - : - . : -
Ihvestments |mpa|rment loss -, . - ’ DR S - (8,924,381) | (1,078,266)
Interest income , . . e K o 357 160 27,858,710 17,571,187 2,122,996
Interest expense . ’ T . (2,589,735) . (9,882,874) (1,194,074).
Other, net . R . o ; N (494,01 8) (9,099) (40,516) (4,896)
Loss before tax "+ S U 1,902915)  (169,268,799) | (233,163,914)  (28,171,461)-
Provision for income tax : Lo 127 71,338) - - . -
Net loss - - : C LT (51,974,253)  (169,268,799)  (233,163,914) (28,171,461)
Other corﬁprehen&ive income (loss) : : S ) . ’ : . )
Currency translation adjustments . " Lo L - .. . (348,586) 565,913 68,375
Comprehensive loss ' e I ,’(5'1,9_74,253) (169,617,385)  (232,598,001) (28,103,086)
Net loss per' share; basic and diluted - -+ . : ST (0.03) V (0.07) . (0.08) (0.01)
Net loss per ADS, basic and diluted L _ h c @) (6.78) (7.74) 0.93):
Weighted avérage number.of brdinary shares ‘out‘standi’ng / ‘ ~1,900,430,600 2,497,467,200 3,013,419,400 3,013,419,400
Weighted average number of ADS o.uts'ta‘nding g A ’ 19,00‘4;‘306 24,974,672 ‘ ‘30,134,194 30,134,194
* Share compensation cost (see Note 16) :
Cost of revenues - advertising, e-commerce and other services : (6,296,816) (1,171,084) - -
Selling, general and administrative expenses (34,346,268} (7,437,230) © (204,423) T (24,699)
Research and development expenses. . (4,770,315) (5,231,246) (2,153,335) (260,171)
(45,413,399) (13,839,560) ' (2,357,758) (284,870)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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NETEASE.COM,INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY .

' ' . . Retained
Convertible preference eamnings (1]

shares & Ordinaryshares: - X Ad&itional Subscriptions . Deferred Statutory (Ac:urﬁu\a‘ed Transtation shareholders’

Share Amoun}'yv Share . " Amquril ’pafd-in capital recefvable compensation reserves . * deficit) adjustments” - equity

M8 SR e RMB RMB Y RMB RMB. © RMB ©RMB

- 500000 - o sag 270,860 - edsEn
T pasasy o S8 L. L (800,000)
R - I - (51,974,253) - L9728y

Balance as of December 31, . o :
1998 o C R
Reorganization adjustment o - =

Net loss ’ - o _-:
; ~ Ordinary sharesiissied for cash :
! : 2 USS0.015 pershare_ S e
" Ordinary shares issued for cash h .
atUS$0.0155 per share : -
‘ Ordih;aryhafei ssued to )

55183 B.222,386 - - - - 277,569 ¢

53400 B34 - - - __— - R AN

pﬁn’cipalmr:\eraspartof‘ . . ) T O . AN D
reorganization * e Ly S asanimy R S . - o
* Ordinary shares. issued for cash T . -

CatUSS005 pershare < < o
Sgn'es’_'A preference shares ‘ ) : - ) . R . . . [ . - .

’ issued for cash at U5$5.00 - - s : ' R R - . . . T o el

pershare” - . ’ 3000000 248,367 - Lo 123934635 - ca - - - 24183002 o

. o ; ‘ 57,156,581 Ly - S S asa3399 -

Cagssaer A d e e o e e

' . Share compensation cost . - Sl e T e

E Balance as of December 31, TN . ST e B . . . .
{" ) i . S 3000000 .248,‘367‘ 2,004,500,000 1,659,447 ‘197,504,00} - n7e382) C- o (51,703,39%) - 136,065,240 -
j - Series B preference shares . ) P RO . . ‘ SR S R
Co .. issued for cash at US$15.62 o o ) — e o o = R

: . pershare © .t L 2560556 211,976 TUo D 000024 (41,390,508) - - - o e 89,761,492

Costaﬁssua»nceo{&eriess . . | i . U

! preference shares s - -7—: Sos . L (6246516) - - - - St t&,?46,516) .

Ordinary shares issued for cash ‘ . . : L 8 . - ' » . - R ‘
" atUSS0.155 per share in ’ ' A S . v : e B
, initial public offering C R LU 450000000, T 372560 . 577,094,666 (5,439,401 . - - e noens

i Costof inial public ofering  + o - Tl e ke . - oo - - T - (2289780 Lo
i Automatic conversion of Series N ' o ‘ L : o : ) - P T

; A preference shares o . X k, ¥ )

‘ * ordinary shares . e S Zi,pb0,000) . - - - - - o

' Automatic conversion of Series

B preference shares to _

211,976, . - e - - Co- Lo R
S e 39,402,963 - Essene0n - - vooomEese. -
_ T R . - (163,268,799 o (169,268,799) '
T e S U R _ - (348,586) (348,586)

- Share compensation cost
Netloss
i

sla

Os

S et 300ssse007 | 2492350 1076505358 (47,829,909) - (37,306,385) S @uam219 (348,586) - 772,540:436

= - 6,289,940

. 6289940, .
Ordinary shares ;ssu;a ST
> genicr official of the

Lol nad it .
.- Company as compensation

{see Note 15) ~ ‘ : 9,315 ; (739,265) - - - 604,579

- - - 245,207 -
R e RS ey :;},59.7,972

Share compensation cost
rovision for uncalec . .
- 6,439,401
. . . - (233,163914) .

Translation adjustments - N . o - T R T n L. 588813 585913

subscriptions receivable
Net loss |

. Balance as of December 31, . . . ) K A

2000 7o SR - - 3,024,175,19‘2 2,503,626 1,044,889,829 (35,100,568} (3,344,574) ) - (454,136,106) 217,327 555,029,534
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 NETEASE.COM, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

B E— ] : . : . For the year ended
T ' ' ' ' 1999 2000 2001 2001
h " “RMB . RMB RMB uss
. Cash flows from operatlng actlvmes s o
Netloss : ,(51;974;253)"'~ (169,268,799) (233,163,914)  (28,171,461)
CAdjustments for. - 5 S ISR i o : :
Depreciation e .= .975,429 8,117,140 17,334,794 - 2,094,434 .
s .,_Shargwc»ompgg_satxon COst et o 45,413,399 13,839,560 2,357,758 .- 284,870
"-" Provision for doubtful debts : e .- s 1,584,452 7,105,038 858,449 "
Write down of investment in convemble note i R e s TEe e S . 2,069,475 250,039
“Write down of investment in convertible preference shares - ’ e = . - 6,854,906 v828,227‘ ’
Write down of property, equipment and software_, . .oe? ™ T - - 2,766,543 334,261
Provision for uncollectable subscnptrons receivable B o= . 6,439,401 778,025
(Increase) decrease in actounts receivable : Lo (5,985,311) . 4,706,696 - 684,888 82,750
-+ (Increase) decrease in prepayment.s and other current assets‘ (8,411,872) -~ (6,056,428). 5,689,171 687,381 -
Increase in. due from relatedparties =20 - ¢~ S -~ (1,005;245) - “(5,194,687) (3,526,047) (426,026)
_Increase in deferred assetw« e AR ST SRR ~(673,407) (109,945) (13,284)
Increase in accounts payable i S 771,932 106,420,224 5,553,994 671,048
“increase (decrease) in deferred revenue ) : oo 634,069 0 (1,035112) (558,739 (67,508)
Increase insalary and welfare payable ) S0 1,840,718 4,862,634 3,204,174 387,136
Increase (decrease) in taxes payable S 1,216,417 (410,760} 765,827 92,529 -
Increase (decrease) in accrued liabilities ) : : . 695293 - 18,083,907 . (7,843,607) (947,684)
Increase (decrease) in due to related parties : T IR . 141,950 371,279 (1,313,229) (158,668)
Net cash used in operating activities ‘ . ) - (15,687,474) (124,653,301)  (185,689,512)  (22,435,482)
Cash flows from investing activities: - c i ) :
Increase in temporary cash investments ; o B - : Ce B - (45,521,300) (5,500,000)
Purchase of property, equipment and software {9,312,383) - (33,970,794) (21 ,095,334) (2,548,792)
lncrease in investment in convertible note . R - (827,810} (1,241,665) (150,021)
" Increase in investment in convertible preference shares R : - (16,556,199) - ’ -
(Increase) decrease in »non -current deposit ’ Lo SRR — (1,682,710) 595,223 71,916
Net cash used in investing activities 7 2 L (9,312,383) . - (53,037,513)  (67,263,076)  (8,126,897)
Cash flows from fihanciﬁg activities: o S B ; . : . R
" Proceeds from short-term bank loans B Rt ©or = 112,600,000 ¢ 123,800,000 14,957,832
Re-payment of short-term bank loans S . o -~ (152,400,000) (18,413,358)
Proceeds from issuance of ordinary shares, ~ ) )
net of RMB62,289,780 issuance costs and, oL Lo
"RMB6,439,401 subscrlptlons receivable in.2000:. R o 18,417,413 508,738,045 - -
Proceeds from issuance of Series A and Series B . : . B ‘
preference sharés, net of issuance costs of .
RMB6,246,516.and RMB41,39Q,508 ' ) ) i . - e .
subscriptions receivable in 2000 - _ o G 124,183,002 283,514,976 - -
Collection of subscriptions receivable for Series B ) i
preference shares issued in 2000 ’ o } - - 6,289,940 759,967
Net cash provided by. rihancing abctivities _ : 142,600;41 5 904,853,021 (22,310,060) . (2,695,559)
Effect of éxchange rate cﬁahges on cash - (348,586) 565,913 68,375
Net increase (decrease) in cash K 117,600,558 726,813,621 (274,696,735) (33,189,563)
Less: (Increase) decrease in restricted cash » o - — .(136,052,705) 45,744,257 5,526,939
Césh, begiﬁning of year 199,538 117,800,096 708,561,012 85,610,155
Cash, end of year . 117,800,096 708,561,012 479,608,534 57,947,531

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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NETEASE.COM, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (CONT'D)_

For the year ended

1999

2000

2001

2001

RMB

‘Supplemental disclosures of cash flow
information: o . :
Cash paid during the year for income taxes oo ’ 11,557

RMB

RMB

uss

Cash paid during the year for interest ~ ~ S S -

1,159,275

8,726,640

1,054,375

Supplemental schedule of non-cash
investing and financing activities:
Compensation costs, arising from transfer :

of ordinary shares and issuance of stock . . RIS
options in the Company to the employees o
and some non-employees of the Company

(see Notes 15 and 16) 45,413,399

13,839,560

2,357,758 ..

284,870

The accompanying notes an integral part of these financial statements.,

.
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‘-'A-_»—; ushy; and Beljmg NetEase lnte

-* NETEASE COM INC

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

. {Amounts expressed in renminbi ("RMB"), unless otherwise s(ated)

: -.',,J; f‘O}rgan‘izati»_gn{;andj[\!a_ture,of Operations

_ The Group
The accompanying. consohdated flnanC|a| statements include the financial statements of NetEase com, Inc. (the ..

» "CompanyJ) and 'ts controiled entmes WhICh consist of NetEase: Information Technology (Beljnng) Co., Ltd. ("Nettase" '

ormat n Technology (Shanghal) Co ; Ltd. (‘NetEase Shangha|”) NetEase (U.S.) Inc. (“NetEase ' :
ve Network Technology Co., Ltd. (”NetEase INT”). The Company and these

controlled entmes are herelnafter coIIectlvely referred to as the “Group”.

Beumg”) NetEase

The Company was nncorporated in the Cayman Islands on ]uly 6, 1999. As of December 31, 2001 the Company had_‘

00. NetEase INT was estabhshed on November 28, 2000 by the Company

and NetEase Beumg, WhICh owned 80% and 20% respectlve!y of the equity interest in NetEase INT. On March 4 -_ o

2002 an approval was obtalned from the relevant Chinese authorities for its dlssolutlon

The Group is pnncnpally engaged |n developmg and provrdlng Internet-refated advertising, e- commerce and other

services, and software licensing services, etc. The Group's businesses were previously conducted by Guangzhou,
‘NetEase Computer System Co., Ltd ("Guangzhou NetEase”), a limited liability company established in the People s
Republlc of China (“China”),: WhICh is controlled by the principal shareholder of the Company. |

n September and October 1999, ordinary shares in the Company were issued to the prlnapal shareholder of the
Company who controlled Guangzhou NetEase, and. NetEase Beijing was formed by the Company. The ordmary_
shares in the Company were issued in connection with the’ acqunsrtlon by NetEase Bemng of all the fixed. assets of

Guangzhou NetEase as of August 31, 1999 at their. book va|ue, and all ther mtanglble assets and contract rlghts not. e

reflected on the balance sheet of Guangzhou NetEase as’ of September 1, 1999 for a total consrderatron of ‘

approximately RMB1 4 m||||on pursuant to an agreement dated September 1, 1999 and a supplemental agreement o
dated September 24 1999 (heremafter referred to as the ”September 1999 Reorgamzatnon”) As a result of these .-
transacttons NetEase Bemng took over the business prevrously owned by Guangzhou NetEase As the'same individual -~

controls the existing |nternet related business of the Group both before and after the September 1999 Reorgamzatlon ;
the September 1999 Reorganization has been accounted for as a reorganization - ‘of companies under common
control in a manner similar to that in pooling of interest accounting in accordance with AICPA Accounting
Interpretations (AIN) 39 of Accounting Principles Board Oplnlon No.16-Transfers And Exchanges Between Companies y
Under Common Control. All the assets acqutred by NetEase Beijing from Guangzhou NetEase have been stated at -
their historical amounts to Guangzhou NetEase.

Ld
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1. Organization and Nature of Operations (cont'd)

The Group (cont’d) -
The Group conducts its business within one industry segment ~ the business of developing and providing Internet-
refated advertising, e-commerce and other and software licensing services in China. The industry in which the
Group operates is subject to a number of industry- -specific risk factors, including, but not limited to, rapidly changing
technologies; significant numbers of new entrants; dependence on key individuals; competition from similar products
from larger.companies; customer preferences; the need for the continued successful development, marketing, and

selling of its products and services; the need for f‘inancing; and the need for‘positive_cashr flows from operations.-

The Group is currently targetrng the Chmese market The Chmese government regulates Internet access, the’
distribution of news and other information and the prowsron of commerce through strict business ||cen5|ng
requrrernents and other governmental regulatrons WhICh include, among the others, those restricting foreign
ownership in-Chinese companles provudrng lnternet access information and other online Internet services.
Management is of the oplnlon that the Group s busmesses cornp|y with existing Chinese laws and regulations.
-'}However the interpretation and apphcatlon of current or proposed requrrements and regulations may have an?'
adverse effect on the Group’s business; fmancral condltlon and results of operatlons

‘The Group has a limited operatrng hlstory and has not generated srgnlflcant revenues. As a result, the Group |s‘ R
subject to risks associated with early- stage compames in new and.rapidly evolving markets. As of December 31,
2001, the Group had an accumulated deficit of approxrmately RMB454.1 million and has continued to incur losses
subsequent to that date. Management believes that the Group's existing cash resources and cash generated from

revenue growth will be sufficient for it to meet its'obli'gations through at least December 31, 2002.

Agreements with Guangzhou NetEase ‘
The Group entered into a series of agreements wrth Guangzhou NetEase effectlve January 1, 2000.- Under these'-
agreements, thé Group provides its Internet portal and -e-commerce technologies and advertising serwces to:'.

Guangzhou'NetEase, and Guangzhou NetEase operates the NetEase Web sntes These servrces include:

o use of domarn names;”

use of copyrtghted Web- page [ayout
S iseof reglstered trademarks;
use of equipment; and

“provision'of technical and consulting services. =

=+~ Under these agreements substantially all of the income received by Guangzhou NetEase will be paid to the Com'pany'
- and NetEase Beijing. Guangzhou NetEase is a related party because it is also controlled by the principal shareholder
e ’Tof the Company The businéss of the Group is"dependent upor Guangzhou NetEase which operates the NetEase

Web sites. The Group expects that'it will’ need to: provrde flnanCIaI support -in-the form_of cost re|mbursements to

v -'Guangzhou NetEase Untll Guangzhou NetEase demonstrates that it can support its own operatlons through its
ive- . revenues from third party customers, the Group will-aceriefor the costs and _expenses. of Guangzhou ‘NetEase.in
Shla, " excess of its revenues as the costs are incurred by Guangzhou NetEase. Under the agreements with Guangzhou: R
- ' NetEase, the Group is to receive payments from Guangzhou NetEase for the technologies and other services it
R, “provides.. Such payments will be accounted for as cost reimbursements unless there are corresponding revenues
received by Guangzhou NetEase from unrelated parties>The effect of the accounting will be that revenues that
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:\f;‘("_):‘r'g‘a'niia‘tion»and Natureotb‘(”)pErations,(cont’d)

Agreements with Guangzhou NetEase (cont’d) -
- the Group records related to transactions with Guangzhou NetEase will not exceed the revenues that Guangzhou

, . NetEase’ ‘derives from unrelated parties. Also, the Group will tecord losses arising from the provision of financial
» ‘isupport to- Guangzhou ‘NetEase. Transactrons W|th Guangzhou NetEase are accounted for and disclosed as related.

" ~party transactions. -

g e Agreements ‘with- Guangyrtong Advertlsmg Co., Ltd (”Guangy|tong Advertrsrng b
e NetEase Beulng also entered into a’seriés: ‘of" agreements “with Guangyltong ‘Advertising and the ultimate owners of
Guangyltong Adverti ng effectlve Januaryl ~2000 These agreements mclude

s . a ten-year irrevocable proxy given by the ultlmate owners of Guangyrtong Advertlsmg which allows NetEase :
Beljmg to exercise all of the shareholder. votrng r|ghts of Guangyltong Advertlsmg, "

. an operatrng agreement provrdlng for the followmg

Guangyltong Advert|5|nger|ll appomt only those lndlwduals nomrnated by NetEase Beijing as ltS sen|0r~, .
- :management personnel; ’ : AR T

*"'.‘:"L'the major decisions of Guangyitong Advertlsmg have to be approved by NetEase Beljrng, mcludrng those_'

relating to financing; transfer of ownershlp |nterests srgnn‘rcant acqursrtlons disposals.or pledges of assets

and amendment and assignment of contracts;

- NetEase Beijing. has a commltment to purchase the assets and busrness of Guangyitong Advertising at their - . )

net book value once it obtains the approval from the Chinese Government to do so under Chinese |aw and' _

- NetEase Beljmg will issue guarantees for the benefrt of: Guangyltong Advertising when considered necessary : o

“for Guangyltong Advertising's operatlons .
e a ten-year excluswe consulting and techmcal servrces agreement provndmg for the followmg
- NetEase Beijing'is the exclusive provnder of technrcal consulting and related services to Guangyltong
. Advert|5|ng for all the advertlsements which Guangyltong Advertlsmg will receive and publlsh on the NetEase..
“Web sites; and . ‘ .
'~ NetEase’ Berpng will charge Guangyrtong Advertlsmg a monthly fee for the above services. The service fee.-
may be unulaterally ad;usted by NetEase Beulng such that NetEase Beljlng may receive all of the proflts and
cash flows of Guangyitong Advertrsmg, B
. ~an undertakmg by the principal shareholder of the Company and the ultlmate owners of Guangyrtong Advertlsmg';
 that they will not vote in any shareholders' or directors' ‘meetings of the Company on any amendments or o

supplements to the agreements with Guangyltong Advert|s|ng except as drrected by the Company's Board.

" Under these agreements Guangyitong Advertising is fully dependent on the technical consulting and other services
provided by NetEase Beijing to operate its online advertising business. Substantially all of the revenues received by
Guangyitong Advertising will be paid to NetEase Beijing. Guangyitong Advertising is a related party because.it is also .
80% owned by the prlnClpal shareholder of the Company The financial statements of Guangyitong Advertising are-
not consolidated wrth those of the Group because of the majority equity interest that the principal shareholder of
the Company has both in the Company and Guangyitong Advertising. Transactions with Guangyitong Advertlsmg‘

are accounted for and disclosed as related party transactions.
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2. Principal Accounting Policies

Basis of consolidation | ’ -

The consolidated financial statements include the financi_al statements of the Company and its controlled entities. .
As explained in Note 1 above, the September 1999 Reorganvi'zation has been accounted for as a reorganization of
companies under common control in'a manner similar to that in pooling of interest accounting. All significant

transactions and balances between the Company and 'its"controlled entities have been eliminated upon consolidation:.

Basrs of presentatlon _ : R

The accompanying consolldated fmancral statements have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted

accountlng principles in the United States of Amenca (”US GAAP”) This basis of accounting differs from that used in

the statutory accounts of those compames W|th|n the Group established in China ("PRC Statutory Accounts”), _
! which are prepared in accordance with accountrng pnncrples and the relevant financial regulations applxcable to

enterprrses estabhshed in China (”PRC GAAP") IR

The preparatlon of frnancral statements in conform|ty wrth US GAAP requrres management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and Ilabrhtres and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities
at the balance sheet dates and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses dunng the reporting periods. Actual‘
‘ "results mlght differ from those estimates. R ‘ ‘

: The prrncrpal drfferences between US GAAP and PRC GAAP- applrcable to'the Group include the following:

E R 'recognltron of compensatlon costs arlsmg from transfer of ordlnary shares in the Company by the prlncrpal
i shareholder to certain members of senior management

. recognrtron of compensatlon cost arlsrng from grants -of stock optlons to the.Company’s employees dlrectors

| consultants and advrsory board members

. adjustment of deprecratlon expenses on eqmpment so'as to more accurately reflect the useful economic Irves off '»
these assets A '

. Dbasis for revenue recognltlon and

. _tax effects related t6'the above ad;ustments

T

‘ .Revenue recognltron

"pohcy on revenue recognition.:

Advertising services .

- The!Group currently derives its advertising services revendes principally from the fees earned from services provided

:to Guangyrtong Advertrsrng, a related party (see Note 6) "Prior to December 1999, the Group also derived advertrsrng} :
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2. Principal Accounting Policies (cont'd)-

Advertising services (cont'd) S

. The agreements entered into between. NetEase Beijing and Guangyitong Advertising (see Note 1) allow NetEase

Beulng to umlaterally ad;ust the amount of fees NetEase Beijing is entitled to from the technical consulting and

—related-setvices. provided to Guangyitong Advertrsmg such that all of the advertising revenues recognized by .-
- -.Guangyitong Advertising based on the recognltlon polrcy described below, less the operating expenses incurred by.
‘ Guangyrtong Advertlsmg, will fully accrue to NetEase Beijing. Therefore, the Group recognizes advertising services
oo - revenuesfrom Guangyrtong Advertrsrng as the service revenues are earned based on the. related service agreement

(see Note 1) at the-same: trme as Cu‘a"ngyltong Advertlsrng recogmzes its advertlsrng revenues.

e T Guangyltong dvertlsmg derives. rts a‘dvertrsrng fees pnnapally from short-term advertrsrng contracts Revenues

~ from advertnsrng contracts are generally recogmzed ratably over-the penod in which the advertlsement is drsplayed _

and: only lf collectlon of the resultrng recel ables is- probable Guangyrtong Advertrsmg s oblrgatlons typlcally also

|nc|ude guarantees of a minimum number of |mpressrons or trmes that an advertlsement appears in pages vrewed by- ,

Do et at. minimum _”ranteed rmpressrons are not met. within'the contractual time' perrod :
Guangyrtong Advertrsrng defers rec‘ogmtron of the correspondrng revenues untrl the remarnmg guaranteed |mpressron '

Ievels are achleved

Revenues from barter transactrons pnmarrly relate to advertrsmg Prior to-January 20, 2000 barter transactions“were
recorded at the estimated fair market value of the service received or estimated farr market value of the advertrsement
provided, whichever is more readily determinable.

Eﬁectrve from' ]anuary 20, 2000 Guangyltong Advertising has adopted the consensus reached in. Emerging Issue._ -
Task Force ("EITF") 99-17 to account for barter-transactions. According to EITF99 17, revenue and expense should

be recognized at fair value from a barter transaction, rnvolvmg advertrsrng services. provrded by the Group only if the

fair value of the advertising services surrendered in the transaction |s determinable based on the entity’s own hrstoncal '
practice of recervrng cash, marketable securities, or other consrderatron that is readily convertible to a known amount -
of cash for similar advertising from buyers unrelated to the counterparty-in ‘the barter transactlon During the years®
ended December 31, 2000 and 2001, the recognized revenues and expenses derived from barter transactrons were

approximately RMBO0.7- million for each of the years. 'During the years ended December 31, 2000 and 2001 .

Guangyitohg Advertising also engaged in certain advertising barter transactrons for which the fair value is not ... .

determinable within the limits of EITF 99-17 and therefore no revenues or expenses derlved from these barter
transactions were recognized. These transactions prrmarlly involved exchanges of advertrsrng services rendered by
Guangyitong Advertising for advertising, promotional benefits, information content, consulting services, and software

provided by the counterparties.
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2. Principal Accounting Policies (cont’d).

E-commerce and other services - ‘ -

The Group currently derives all its e-commerce and other services revenues from fees earned from services provided
to Guangzhou NetEase, a related party (see Note 6). The Company derives e-commerce and other services revenues
from technical services provided to Guangzhou NetEase which operates the NetEase Web sites for transactions
conducted through the lnternet. The agreements entered into between NetEase Beijing and Guangzhou NetEase
(see Note 1) allow NetEase Beijing to unilaterally adjust the amount of fees NetEase Beijing is entitled to from the
technical services provided to Guangzhou NetEase Such’ that all of the e- commerce and other services revenues
.recognized by Cuangzhou NetEase-based on the recognltlon pohcy descnbed below will fully accrue to NetEase _
-Beijing. T

The transactions conducted by Guangzhou NetEase for whrch the Group provrdes technical services to Guangzhou
" NetEase primarily mclude short messaging, on- I|ne shoppmg mall, auctrons and revenue shanng from co- branded ‘
Web sites, etc. Guangzhou NetEase recognlzes its share of the revenues from these transactions when the serwces
are provrded :

. The Group entered into a strategic co-Operatio'n agreement with a private auction company pursuant to which the
Group and the private auction companyfestabljsheda co-branded auction Web site on the NetEase Web sites.
According to the agreement; the Group is entitled to (i) a non-refundable upfront fee and (i) quarterly referral fees
which are based on-the number of click-‘throughs‘ to the co-branded site with a minimum fee level on d quarterly”
basis. The agreement s for a term of two years commencmg from the:date of launch of the co-branded Web site on
September 10, 2000. The private auction company informed the Group that it considers that the strategic co-
operatlon agreement has been termmated in 2002: However, the Group has been unable to resolve this issue or to »
enter into a new agreement with the prlvate auction company - and the co-| branded Web site still remains in operation.’

i Pursuant to the agreements between the Company and Guangzhou NetEase {(see Note 1), Guangzhou NetEase

; E operates the co- -branded Web site under the strateglc o8 operatlon agreement Guangzhou NetEase recogmzest

revenues from the non- refundable upfront fee'on the stralght -line basis over the service penod and recognizes the'

referral fees as’ services are provnded and as the fees are earned.

- ‘:‘V,A

-The: Group recognlzes services revenues from Guangzhou NetEase at the same time-as Guangzhou NetEase recogmzes

itse- commerce and other services revenues.
: erwces prowded to third parties dunng 1999 and 2000 lnclude various short-term service contracts for constructlon '
-'zof Web sites. and market surveys, etc Revenue is recognlzed upon completlon of the respectlve total contract and.

acceptance by the customer.

Software and related mtegratlon pro;ects TR TS AN

“ Software"and related’ integration prolects mclude the: elements of hcensmg, services, and postcontract customer

, -support (“PCS"): PGS, generally for one year or less and occasmnally beyond one year are generally hotline support
f.j;*:{ e in nature and may involve unspecnfled upgrades or enhancements These unspecrfled upgrades or enhancements

LT o offered during PCS arrangements historically have been and are expected to continue to be minifial and mfrequent' :

T The estimated costs of providing PCS are insignificant. Sufficient vendor-specific objective evidence does not exist to

- allocate the’revenues from software and related integration projects to the separate elements of such projects.

e
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T Revenues fro those proje

’ ""'.dates

2 Prmcrpal Accounting Policies (cont'd).

Software and related integration projects (cont’d) '
n accordance with AICPA Statement of Position (“SOP”) 97-2, revenues from software licensing and related integration
-~ projects under which the Group provides PCS for one year or less are recognized when the following criteria are met:

R A

« . pérsuasive evidence of an arrangement;
. dehvery has occurred and services have been performed

el the sales amount is flxed or determmable and

‘olle‘ctltw)llrtyﬁr»syz‘prgtga_b[eV T

under Wthh the Group provrdes PCS that extend beyond one year are recogmzed B
ratably over the respectlve terms of the contracts Warranty on the' hardware in the related mtegratron projects is -

substantlally assumed by the orrglnal equrpment vendors.

<Déferred revenue

Deferred revenue represe s prepayments by custorners for services yet to be completed as of the balance sheet

Cost of revenues -

Costs of advertising, e-commerce and other services consist-primarily of staff costs of those departments drrect|y .
involved in providing advertising and e-commerce and other services, deprecratron and amortrzatron of computers
and software server custody fees, bandwidth and other direct costs of provndrng these services. These costs are

charged to the statement of operatr_ons,as incurred.

Material drrect costs mcurred in the development of platforms for provrdlng these services consist pnmanly of.
computer software developed or acqurred They are capltahzed and amortized in accordance with AICPA SOP 98-1

and costs incurred prior to the apphcatron‘development stage are expensed as incurred.

Cash

Cash represents cash on hand and demand dep05|ts placed with banks or other financial lnstltutlons |nc|uded in the
cash balance as 6f December 31, 2000 and 2001 are amounts denominated in United States dollars totaling
US$81.5 million and US$56.3 million respectlvely (equivalent to’ approxnmately RMB675.0 million ‘and
RMB466.0 million respectrvely)

Temporary cash investments

Temporary cash investments represent time deposits placed with banks or other financial institutions with original
maturities over three months. Included in temporary cash investments as of December 31, 2001 are accounts
denominated in United States dollars totahng approximately US$5.5 million (equnva\ent to approxrmately '»
RMB45.5 million).

Financial instruments :

Financial instruments of the Group primarily consist of temporary cash investments, accounts receivable, due from
and due to related parties, investment in convertible note, investment in convertible preference shares, short-term
bank loans and accounts payable. As of the balance sheet dates, their estimated fair value approximated their
carrying value.
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2. Principal Accounting Policies (cont’d) |

Property, equipment and software

Property, equipment and software are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is calculated on

the straight-line basis over the following estimated useful lives, taking into account any estimated residual value:

. Furniture and office equipment 5years

. Computers e 3 years’

. Software ‘ R & 3years. .

. Leasehold improvernent's . ~lesser of the term. of the lease or the estlmated useful lives of the assets

Costs of computer software developed or obtamed for |nternal use are accounted forin accordance with AICPA SOP

P 98- 1, under which direct costs rncurred to develop the software during the application development stage and to_ -

~obtain computer software from thlrd partles that can provnde future beneﬁts are capitalized. As of December 31,

g » : 2001 the capltallzed costs of lnternally developed computer software are approxrmately RMBS5.1 mrllron

Impalrment of long llved assets - AR
The Company evaluates the recoverabrllty of long lived assets in- accordance with SFAS No:121, “Accounting for the .
Impalrment of Long leed Assets and-for Long leed Assets to be Dlsposed of”". SFAS No. 121 requires recognition [

|mpa|rment of long -lived assets inthe event the net book value-of such assets exceeds the future undlscounted cash .
flows attributable to such assets -, '

Advertlsmg expenses

The Company recognizes advertlslng expenses ln accordance with AlCPA SOP 93-7 ”Reportmg on Advertlsmg Costs
- As such, the Company expenses the costs of producmg advertisements at the time production occurs, and expenses: '
the cost of commumcatmg advertlsrng |n the penod in whlch the advertrsmg space or airtime is used. Advertrsnng. .
expenses totaled approxlmately RMBé 9 million, RMBél 6 m||l|on and RMBM 7 million, dunng the years ended
December 3, 1999 2000-and 2001, respectuvely

Forelgn currency translat|on

: The functlonal currency of the Group is RMB Transactlons denommated in currencies other than RMB are translated
|nto RMB’ at the exchange rates quoted by the People 5. Bank of China (the ”PBOC”) prevailing at the dates. of the
transactions: Monetary assets and liabilities denomrnated in foreign currencies are translated into RMB using the
appllcable exchange rates quoted by the PBOC at the balance sheet dates. The resulting exchange differences are

the determination of income. o

: Translations of amounts from RMB into United States dollars for the convenience of the reader were calculated at the
~ noon. buylng rate of US$1 00 = RMBS 2766 on December 31, 2001 in The Clty of New York for cable transfers of

RMB amounts could’ have: been of.could bey converted lnto Unlted States dollars at that rate on December 31
2001, 6r at; -any. ‘other- certaln rate
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2. P_rincipal‘ Accounting Polii‘c:ies'(COnt’d)v

Stock options : _ -
In accordance with the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 (“SFAS 123") "Accounting
. for-Stock-Based Compensation”, the Group has selected the disclosure only provisions related to employee stock

-options and follows the provisions of- Accountlng Prrncrples Board Opinion No. 25 (“APB 25") in accounting for

"7 stock options issued to employees. Under APB 25 compensatron expense, if any, is recognized as the difference

_between the exercise pnce and the estrmated falr value of the ordinary shares on the measurement date, which is

typrcally the-date: of grant -and is recogmzed over the service perrod whrch is typrcally the vestrng penod

Income taxes t it . e , : .
= Deferred mcome taxes 'are provrded usmg the balance sheet liability method: Under this method, deferred i income ’
taxes are recognlzed for the tax consequences of significant temporary dlfferences by applying enacted’ statutory.
rates apphcable to future’ years to drfferences between the financial statement carrymg amounts and the tax bases of.

exlstlng assets and. Ilabrlrt|es"The tax base of an asset or llabrhty is the amount attributed to that asset or liability for

es. of o change in tax rates is recognxzed in. mcome in the period that ’

“tax purposes The eff
mcIudes the ena valuation a||owance is provrded to reduce the amolint of deferred tax assets if it is.

consrdered more- hke!y than not that some portron of, or all'of, the deferred tax asset will not be realized. -

Net loss per share (”EPS”) and per American Dep051tary Share (”ADS”) '

In accordance with Statement of Flnanual Accountlng Standards No. 128, ”Computatron of Earnings Per Share,”
ba5|c EPS is computed by dividing net foss attnbutable toordinary shareholders by the werghted average number of
ordinary shares outstandmg during the period. Diluted EPS is calculated by drwdlng net loss by the weighted:-
average number:of ordinary and dilutive ordlnary equnvalent shares outstandlng during the period. Ordinary equivalent -
shares consist of the ordlnary shares |ssuab|e upon the conversion.of the convertrble preference shares (using the if-
converted method) and ordlnary shares. rssuable upon the exerase of outstandlng stock optrons (using the treasury .
stock method). Ordmary equrvalent shares in the diluted EPS computatron are excluded in net loss penods as their

effect would be -anti- dilutive. The number of these ordinary equivalent shares excluded from the'diluted EPS ~

computatlon amounted to 323, 695 000 50 164 600 and 66,845, 749 for the years ended December 31, 1999
2000, and- 2001 respectlvely ‘ ‘ ’ T

Net loss per ADS has been computed by multlplylng the net Ioss per share by 100 which is the number of shares‘
represented by each ADS DR ‘ g
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- 2. Principal Accounting Policies (cont’d)

Statutory reserves -
In accordance with the Regulations on Enterprises with Foreign Investment of China and their articles of association,
NetEase Beijing, NetEase Shanghai, NetEase INT, being foreign invested enterprises established in China, are required
to provide for certain statutory reserves namely general reserve, enterprise expansuon fund and staff welfare and
.. bonus fund which are appropriated from net profit as reported in their PRC Statutory Accounts. NetEase Beijing and
NetEase Shanghai, being wholly foreign owned enterpnses are required to allocate at least- 10% of their after-tax
profit to the general reserve. NetEase Beijing and NetEase Shanghar may stop allocations to the general reserve if
- such’ reserve has reached 50% of their respective reglstered caprtal Appropnatrons to the enterpnse expansion fund
and staff welfare and bonus fund are at the discretion of the board of directors of NetEase Beijing, NetEase Shanghar
~and NetEase INT, respectrvely These reserves can only be used for specmc purposes and are not distributable as cash
. jd|v1dends Approprlatlons to the staff welfare and bonus fund wrll be charged to selling, general and admrnrstratwe_

’expenses

j NetEase Beljlng and' NetEase Shanghan have been in aloss: posmon accordrng to thelr PRC: Statutory Accounts and :

no. appropnatlons to statutory reserves have been made

>Related partles :
: Partres are con5|dered to be related if one party* has the abrllty, dlrectly or. lndlrectly, to control the other. party or-
exercise srgnlﬂcant influence over the other party in maklng frnancnal and operatmg decisions. Parties are also consrdered ‘

: to be related if they are subject to common control or common sngmflcant lnfluence

. Reclassrflcatrons . - : :
Certaln reclassmcatlons have been made in prlor years' flnancaal statements to conform to-classification used in the

* current year.

Recent. accountlng pronouncements t :
- injuly 2 2001 ;the. Fmancral Accountlng Standards Board ("FASB") |ssued Statements of Financial Accountlng Standards
' 'A}"-'",A(”SFAS") No 141 "Busmess Comblnatrons” and. No 142 ”Goodwrll and Other Intanglble Assets”. SFAS No: 141 -

.~fapplles to busrness comblnatrons initiated after ]une 30 200%. SFAS No. 141 requrres ‘business combmatlons tobe

accounted for usnng one method the purchase method SFAS No. 142 addresses fmancral accounting for acqulred -
goodwﬂl and other |ntang|ble assets and how such assets should be accounted for in flnancral staternents upon their
qursrtlon and after they have been |nrt|ally recogmzed in the flnanclal statements SFAS No. 142 is effective for.
fiscal years begmnlng after December:15, 20012 THe' Grotip does not belleve that the adoptlon of SFAS No. 141 and
- No: 142 will have a significant lmpact on its financial statements.

AR

Lo In October 2001 the FASB |ssued SFAS No. 144; "Accountlng for the Impairment or Dlsposal of Long-Lived Assets,

R (SFAS144), ‘Which addresses financial accountlng and reportrng for the recog ition and measurement of SFAS No.

©121; ¥ Accounting; for the. Impalrment of Long- Lrved Assets and for Long _Lived Assets to Be Drsposed of". SFAS No.
.. 144is effective for flnanual statements issiied for flscal years begmnlng after December 31 2001 The Group does

not believe the adoption of SFAS144 will have a srgnlflcant lmpact on its fmancral statements Ce T
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~ 3. Concentrations.

Major customers :
B " ¢ Revenues from customers (other than those from related parties described in Note 6 below) that individually represent
o “greater than 10% of the total revenues for the years ended December 31, 1999, 2000 and 2001 are as follows:

e ST T For the year ended December 31,

1999 2000 2001

-+ Customers .

..2,369,363 - o
2,075,000 - 3

on Guangzhou NetEase = v
» o e The Group relies exclusrvely on Guangzhou NetEase whlch has the approval to operate as an Internet content.
provider, for the operatron of the NetEase Web srtes o

Credit risk . :
P The Group is prlnClpally engaged in developlng and provrdmg Internet-related advertising, e- commerce and othet

services to busmesses pnmanly in Chrna The Group generally does not requrre collateral for its accounts recelvable
f -4 Restrlcted Cash’

-

! Restricted cash represents USD denomlnated deposrts in- the amounts of US$0.1 mlllron (2000 UsS$0. 1 mrllron)
P " pledged as security money for rentrng offlce space and USD denomrnated dep05|ts totallng Us$10.8 million (2000 '

' US$16 3 million) pledged W|th banks for the Group s RMB denomlnated short term bank loans (see Note 10) B
5. Prepayrnen“ts and Othe'r,Culfrent: ‘AiSet‘s _' o

December 31, ' : December 31 g

2000 2001
Prepayments _ ’ ‘ 7,502,856 2,692,651
Interest receivable o . .3,211,690 ‘ . 2,854,722
Employee advances . e 1,088,479 100,535
Low-value consumables’ o ] ' . , - 611,396 1,712,813
Other : S ST S 2,411,112 1,775,641
Total 14,825,533 9,136,362
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6. Related Party Transactions

During the years ended December 31, 1999, 2000 and 2001 the Group derived approximately RMB0.5 millicn, nil
and RMBO.3 million, respectively, of advertising fees from shareholders of the Company.

During the years ended December 31, 1999, 2000 and 2001, the Group derived approximately RMBO0.3 million,
RMB30.1 million and RMB14.2 million, respectively, of advertising services revenues from Guangyitong Advertising,
a related company that is controlled by the principal shareholder of the Company, for advertising-refated technical

consulting services performed.

During the years ended December 31,1999, 2000 and 2001, the Group derived approximately nil, RMB1.1 million

and RMB14.1 million, respectlvely, of e- commerce and other servnces revenues from Guangzhou NetEase a related

company that is controlled by the prrncrpal shareholder of the Company.

Durlng the years ended December 31, 1999 2000 and 2001, the Group reimbursed Guangzhou NetEase a total of s
approxnmately RMB2.4 mIIlIon RMBS 2 mIllIon and RMBZ 7 mrll|on respectlvely, for the costs of operatmg the .
NetEase Web SItes o

As of the balance sheet dates, due from related parties represents amounts receivable from Guangyitong Advertising

“and Guanzhou NetEase for services performed and temporary advances to officers of the Group. The balances with

related parties were unsecured, interestifree and repaya"ble_on demand. As of December 31, 2000 and 2001, the
amounts due from related parties included amounts. denominated in United States dollars of US$0.2 million and
US$0.5 I’TII”IOH respectlvely (equrvalent to approxmately RMBI -9 million and RMB3 9 million respectlvely) All
other related party balances are denommated in RMB

7. Inve'stment in Convertible_'Note

Investment in convertible note as of December 31 2000 represented an advance made to a private company -

operatl s: a | provider of \ women focused content on. the Internet and was stated at cost. The investment was fully

o iwntten ff to the statement of operatlons durmg the year ended December 31, 2001 as a result of the closure of the
e fpnvate company ' ’

» ,"8. lnvestment in Convertible"Preference Shares

' Decernber 3l, December 31 ,k

2000 2001
__Investment at cost ) o ST ‘ A >16,556,'199 16,556,199
- ,Less Investment Impalrment Ioss e e e L S D T Lo - o (6,854,906)
. Net book value T Ee i i 6556,199 9,701,293
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| _?f e 8. Investment: in-Convertible Preference Shares (cont'd)

Investment in convertible preference shares represents an investment in 705,81 6 preference shares in & private

e xInternet based auction company at US$2.8336 per share.

P “Accordlng to a board resolution dated March 14 2002 and an agreement entered into between the Company and
© the private auction company dated March 18 2002 ‘the pnvate auction company repurchased from the Company

. all of the 705,816 preference shares the Company acquired at a consideration of approximately US$1 .2 million.

whrch is: equrvalent to approxrmately RMBY:7" mllhon (see Note 18)

[FRTANT

December31, . December31,

20000 . 2001 .-
.S Computers ' 28,470,949 43,937,710
Furniture and offrce equrpmentv - :~_ S » e 1‘,941.,495‘ S 2,262,944
Software e 9,663,528 T 12,899,639
Leasehold irnprover_nen_ts" : ) BT 3,772,709 13,782,693
Vehicles - o S ' 705,514 ‘ S
o | S o 44,554,195, 62,882,986
Less: Accumulated depreciation o » L (9,192,104). T (26,526,898)
Net book vaiue R . 35362,091 . 36,356,088

As a result of the penodrc review of the carryrng value of property, equrpment and software the Company recorded :
an impairment loss for software of RMBZ. 8 million dunng the year ended. December 31, 2001 Fair value was.
determined for the software prlmarlly based on the present value of estimated expected future cash flows to be

generated from the software.
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10.Short-term Bank Loans

‘ , Annual Outstanding principal as of
Lender - Period ‘ interest rate December 31, 2001
China Merchants Bank - loan A fMarch.2001, to March 2002 : 5.85% 24,000,000
China Merchants Ban’k.- loan B B Ap}ril200v1_to‘j‘April\;Z_ﬂ(’)ioz- ! 5.85% 32,000,000
‘ C.'hina Mercha:_n_ts Bank - |‘oan(::2 ok May 2001 toMayZOOZ ) 585% . 28;000,06(57
: A w 84,000,000 -

As of December 31 2001 the above Ioans A and C totahng RMBSZ mllhon are secured by bank deposits of- US$6.5 -
million, and the Ioan B.of RMB32 mrllron \5 secured by a bank deposrt of US$4 3 million. ‘

These short-term bank loans WeredraWn for Working vcap’ital, purposes.

11. Employee Benefits: , : ,

The full-time employees of those: companres within the Group which are established in China are entitled to staff‘
welfare benefits including medical care, welfaré subsrdres unemp|oyment insurance and pension benefits, etc. These

‘ companies are required to accrue for these beneflts based-on certain percentages of the employees’ salanes in
accordance with the relevant regulations.” “The total provrsron for such employee benefits amounted to. RMB1 4

: million, RMB6.2 million and RMB9 6 million for the years ended December 31,1999, 2000, and 2001, respectlvely

P These companres are also requrred to make contnbutlons to the state- sponsored pensron and medical plans out of
the amounts accrued for medrcal and pensron beneﬁts These contnbutlons “for the years ended December 31,
1999 2000 and 2001 amounted to apprommately RMBO 2 m|II|on RMB3. 6 mlllxon and RMB6.3 million, respectlvely
The Chmese government is responsrb|e for the medlcal benefrts and ultimate pensron liability to these emp|oyees -

12‘ -Itaxat|0n

Income taxes

Cayman Islands o e e e et
Under the current Iaws of the Cayman Islands the Company is not subject to tax on income or, caprtal galn
Addmonally, upon payments of dlv:dends by the Company to its shareholders, no Cayman Islands W|thho|d1ng tax

S will be imposed. -
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S 12; Taxation (cont'd)

R PN

People’s Republic of China . ; : . -

:F relgn Invested Enterprises: :
-»—Infaccordance “withI[fcomes Tax Law. of Ch|na for Enterpnses Wlth Foreign Investment and Foreign Enterpnses

~foreign invested enterprises are generally subject to enterprlsenncome tax (“EIT") at the rate of 30% plus a local tax
.of 3%. Nettase. Belpng, bemg a forelgn mvested enterprlse and located in the New Technology Industrial Development

pe mental Zonesin Benjmg, has been recognlzed asa: ”New and ngh Technology Enterpnse According to an

et — approval granted by the Haldnan State Tabeureau ;:%NoVem er 2000 NetEase Bemng is ent|tled toa reduced EIT:

I 2000 In addmon the approval also granted NetEase Beulng with a fuIIv E

rate of 15% com Y >
o 2002 a 50% reductlon m EIT from 2003 to 2005 and a fuII exemptlon from the e

= C w5 exempt|on from EIT from

Iocal tax from 2000 onwards

Guangzhou NetEase is a Chinese domestlc enterprnse and is generally subject to EIT at arate of 33% However' .

Guangzhou NetEase was categorlzed as a small-sized tax payer by the local tax bureau of Guangzhou Chma .
| Accordlng to the relevant tax circulars.issued by the |oca| tax bureau of Guangzhou Guangzhou NetEase is subject. -
' to dlfferent EIT rates dependlng on the nature of its taxable revenues

; - Areconciliation of the differences between the sta‘tutory‘tax rate and the effective tax rate for EIT is as follows:

; . ~ R e ; For the year ended December 31,

1999 2000 2001
Estatutoryrate (33.0%) - (33.0%) . (33.0%)
'Non-deductible share compensatlon costs e o 130% S 27% o (0’.‘3%;,_ -
Effect of tax rate apphcable to small-sized domest|c enterpnses‘ o (02%) - ‘ =
Effect of lower tax rate applicable to hi- tech enterpnses - 18.3% S 67% - 6.2%
Valuation allowance for deferred tax assets o 1.9% 12.6% : | 8.2% .
Permanent differences. (primarily the expenses
incurred by the Company which are not
.deductible for EIT purposes) _ ‘
— Professional fees - - 1.9% 8.5%.
—Salaries of the Company’s senior officers - 1.9% 3.1%.
~Other : | . - 7.2% 67%
- Effective EIT rate — : ‘ 0.1% . - - E
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12. Taxation (cont’d)

Domestic Enterprises (cont’d)

‘As of December 31, 2000, and 2001, the tax impact of significant temporary differences between the tax and

financial statement bases of assets and liabilities that gave rise to deferred tax assets were principally related to the

following:

December 31, December 31,
2000 ' . 2001
Loss carryforwards (pnmanly for NetEase Beurng and .
NetEase Shanghal relating to ElT appllcable to ‘ o . ,
kﬂagnwweuedenmqymeg 7»’d,_f~ 1.9 . lp‘p”_ :~2Q02@257 : : 3%}41456ha
Valuation allowance -~ - ool (20,026,267) - (39,147,456)
Net deferred tax assets o e - : ‘ . | “ S

Sublect to the approval of the relevant tax authorrtles NetEase Berjlng had \oss carryforwards of approxrmately:
RMB162.4 million as of December 31 2001 for EIT purposes Approxrmately RMB6.6 million, RMB75.3 million and

’RMBSO 5 million of these loss carryforwards W|II exprre in 2004, 2005 and 2006, réspectively. NetEase Shanghar had

loss carryforwards of approxlmately RMB44.8, mlllron as of December 31, 2001 for EIT purposes. Approxrmately'
RMB23.5 million and RMB21.3 mr|l|on of these foss’ carryforwards will explre in 2005 and 2006, respectlvely A
valuation allowance has been prowded due to the uncertarnty surroundlng the reallzablllty of such assets. There is no
assurance that NetEase Beijing and NetEase Shanghar wrll be able to- utlhze the loss carryforwards before their .

exprratron

In addltron the preferentlal EIT treatments that NetEa : Beulng obtalned may be subject to review by higher authontles -

If these preferentlal tax treatments were- not avallable to NetEase Beijing, NetEase Beijing would be subject to ElT'at

30%,plus a Iocal tax ‘of 3% and the exemptlon and reductlon descrrbed above wouid not: apply In that case, the tax

pact of the Ioss carryforwards and the valuatlon aIIowance as of December 31, 2001 would have been hrgher by= ‘

s"not connected toa permanent ‘establishment in the PRC would be

'receyrpts from proﬁt |nterest rentals roya|tres and other income sourced ,

Pyl
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Business tax (“BT")

- =~ The Group is subject to BT on the provision of taxable services in China, transfer of intangible assets and the sale of

' lmmovable propertles in China. The tax rates range from 3% to 20% of the gross receipts, dependlng on the nature

of the revenues: The' applrcable BT rate for the Group s revenues is generally 5%. In addition, Guangyitong Advertmng

s sub]ect toa cultural development fee at 3% on its Internet advertrsrng fees.

i Taxes payable

1'3‘.Accr:ued VL’i‘a’.l__)i‘I'ities '

AccrUed adyer‘trsing expenses - .
Accrued information fee

Accrued profeSSionaI fees

Other - o

-~ Total . s

1 4;. Subscri_ptions Receivable

- .“Decemoer 31, ‘

2000

823,831
S 183,273

1,007,104,

December 311‘

2000

15,085,096

1,043,000
1,122,461
1,531,000

18,781,557

December 31,
2001 -

1,313,896
459,035

1,772,93%

December 31
2001

978,027 .
1,787,468 .-
13,854,513

>4m1%2_-

10,937,950. -

Subscnptlons recervable represents the amount recexvable from a shareholder for subscrlptron for the Company s‘,' "

series B preference shares (see Note 15) and advances to certain shareholders for subscription for the Company’s

ordinary shares i in 2000. At December 31, 2001 an a||owance for doubtful subscrlptlons receivable in the amount

of approxnmate|y RMB6 4 million was provnded as the Company believes that this amount is not collectnb!e

15.'Capit’a:l Sfructure '

. Ordinary shares

The holders of ordinary shares in the Company are entrtled to one vote per share and to receive ratably such

dividends, if any, as may be declared by the board of directors of the Company In the event of liquidation, the

holders of ordinary shares are entitled to share ratably in all assets remalnmg,after payment of liabilities. The ordinary

shares have no preemptive, conversion, or other subscription rights.

r_]_}4 1
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15. Capital Structure (cont’d)

Ordinary shares (cont’d) —
In November 1999, in consideration for certain members of the senior management joining the Group, the principal
shareholder of the Company committed to transfer a total of 109,694,200 of his ordinary shares in the Company to
such individuals with no vesting period requirement. The estimated fair value of these shares committed to be
transferred, valued at US$0.05 per share at date of commitment, is recognized as compensation costs immediately.
In addition, the principal shareholder of the Company also .agreed to transfer a total of 26,271,300 of his ordinary
shares in the Company for servrces to be rendered by certain of those individuals over three years starting from
January 1, 2000. The total estrmated fair value of these shares, valued at US$0. 05 per share at the date of grant is

recognized as deferred compensatlon Wthh is to be amortlzed over the related vesting periods.

In addition, in"March 2000 the princlpal shareholder of the Company transferred an additional approxima’tely“
1,900,000 ordrnary shares to certain employees, for Wthh the Company recorded compensatron costs of :
approximately RMB2.5 milfion in 2000. ‘ |

On March 31, 2000, the ordinary,éhares in,theicompany_y\/ere split on a one-hundred-for-one basis. The effects’ of -

the share split have been reflected in the financial statements on a retroactive basis for all the periods presented;

In'June 2000, the Company sold: 4, 50(5 000 ADS, representing 450,000,000 ordinary shares, in an underwritten :
initial public offering for net proceeds of approxrmately US$64 9 million, before offenng expenses. Slmultaneously
with the closing of the public offermg, all 3,000,000 shares of Series A preference shares and 2,560, 556 shares of
Series B preference shares were converted to ordrnary shares on a basis of 100 ordmary shares for one preference
share (see below). '

On March 23, 2001, the Company entered into. an agreement whereby the Company acquired certain software for
online games, computers and the related mtellectual property rights for cash consideration of US$0.2 million: from
a prrvate technology company In addition; the: Company agreed to issue 7, 742 168 ordlnary shares in the Company
to the founders of the prrvate technology company by rnstallments on a-quarterly basis starting from June 23, 2001 ‘
-':.through March 23 ,2003 for the servrce to be prowded by such individuals as employees of the Company over such

,'perlod The total estlmated fair value of these shares of approxrmately RMBO.8 million valued at US$0. 0125 per
.share at the date of agreement is recognrzed as deferred compensatron which is to be amortized over the related ,
vesting period. . '

or :r_h:gkito"_.an‘-'a'g?“eém‘éntfdated-Septemﬁer 1172001 Bétween the V:Co"r'n'panyu and a senior officer of the Company,
“the Co‘mpany shall provide cash payments to the officer for him to acquire 25,000,000 ordinary shares in the
: (Company ata subscrlptron price of US$0.006492 per share, representing the fair value of each share at the date of
, the agreement by quartérly rnstaliments overa period® of 18 moriths~Deferred compensation cost of approxvrnately

- RMBl 3 million is ‘fecognized; which is 'to.be- amortlzed over the related vestlng perrod of 18 months
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. 15. C_apital Structure (cont'd) '
Convertible preference shares
Series’ A preference shares :
The Series A preference shares were: convertlble ona basis of 100 ordinary shares for one preference share. These '

-preference.shares were automatically converted upon closrng of the public offering of the ordinary shares in the
Company in-2000. '

obtalned for any acqursmonﬂmerger reorganrzatlon substantlal drsposal of assets alteratron of capital amounts S
disposal of interest in. any sub5|d|ary or assocrate company, and I|qu1dat|on or wrndlng up of the Company.
Series B preference shares=" """ '

“On'March 23, 2000, the or

g tered |nto 3 Senes B Preference Shares Purchase Agreement pursuant to which
’ 2ries B preference shares-of US$0.01 each at an issuance price of US$15.60 per"
share for a total consnderatron of approxlmately Us$40 mrlhon of which US$35 million was pald up in cash and
US$5 million was paid up by advertlsrng to be provided by the shareholder of the. Serres B preference shares and its
affiliated companies on their television channels over-a perlod of three years ‘ "

The Series B preference’shares had the same conversion features as the Series A preference shares. The.Series B-

preference shares had an aggregate liquidation preference equal to the total consideration for which they were

issued. They carried the same preferences as thosé of Serles A preference shares on dividend payment but had .-

certain preferences over Series A preference shares on return of capital i in case of a wlndrng up of the Company.

The Company also entered into a strateglc co- operatlon agreement with the shareholder. of its Series B preference‘-‘f'
shares which provrded for, among other things; advertrsmg spending of US$5 million from the shareholder over the .-
next three years, cross I|censmg of Internet tools and technologies, licensing of content information, and other co-

operatlve marketmg and promotlonal events on commercral terms to be agreed | between the two parties.

“The effect of the issuance of Senes B preference shares together wrth the strategic co- operatlon agreement with the

same shareholder is sumllar to an issuance of shares to the shareholder.for cash con5|deratlon of US$40 mrlhon (wrth ‘

US$35 million receivable |mmed|ately and US$5 million receivable over a period of three years from March 2000) o

and having a barter transaction’ for advertrsmg between the’ Company and the shareholder. The accounting for

these two transactions in the financial statements reflects this effect.
16.Stock Option Plans

1999 Stock Option Plan
In December 1999, the Company adopted an |ncent|ve and non-statutory stock option plan for the Company's
‘senior management and employees (the “1999 Stock Optlon Plan”). The' Company has reserved 345,675,000

ordinary shares for issuance under the plan.
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16.Stock Option Plans (cont’d)

1999 Stock Option Plan (cont’d) : -

 Employees :
During the year ended December 31, 1999, the Company granted options to the Company’s employees to acquire
a total of 3,735,000 ordinary shares at an exercise price of US$0.070 per share. Options for the employees vest upon '
completion of the first full year of service by the respective employees from the date they first joined the Group and

, expire at the end of the fifth year of their respective serviceperiods.

‘ Of these grants to employees options to acqurre 740, 000 and 1,560, 000 ordrnary shares were cancelled in 2000
P . and 20071, respectively, as a result of the resignation of certam employees Accordlngly, optlon to acqmre 1 ,435, OOO»
S ' : ordlnary shares remained outstandlng as‘of December 3l ZOOl )

Senior management

During the year endéd December 31 1999, the Company granted optlons to members of the Company s senlor

management to acquire a total of 115, 225 OOO ordlnary shares atan exercise prlce of US$0.065 per share. Optlons‘

- for the members of the Company's senior: management become exercisable at the rate of 20% on the vesting

« v commencement date which was September 1, 1999, 20% upon complet|on of one full year and 30% tpon completlon
e S _ of each of the next two full years thereafter. These optrons will also vest upon the founder of the Group ceasrng to:’
be the principal shareholder of the Group: In addltlon “certain of these options would vest upon closing ofa public

offering of the ordinary shares in the Company The optlons for the members of the Company s senior. management

expire on September 1, 2009.

Of these grants to senior management, optrons to- acqwre 46 858,200 and 52 235,300 ordinary shares were cancelled ’
in 2000 and 2001 respectlvely, asa result of the. re5|gnat|on of certain members of the Company's senior management
Accordlngly, optlons to acquire 16,131, 500 ordlnary shares. remalned outstandmg as of December 31 2001.

Advisory board . e EUT e e

~The Company also granted optrons to acqmre a totaI of 3 000 000 ordlnary shares to its advrsory board members.

:"r'Twenty pel ent'of these OpthﬂS vest on the date of apporntment which was the end of 1999, and 10% wrll vest .
:gach’ quarter over the next two years. The exerase prlce is US$O 065 per share The total estimated fair value of the
:'optlons granted to the advrsory board members of approxrmately RMBO 9 ‘million was recognized at the. date of |
grant as’ deferred compensatron which: was to be amortrzed over the related vestrng perlod The estimated farr value s
of the optrons Granted 16 advrsory board member was estlmated on the date of grant usrng the Black- Scholes optron
»pricing model. The following assumptions were used for the grant risk-free interest rate of 2.97%; estimated fair

Zlvalue of US$0 050 per. ordrnary share; expected drvrdend yreld of 0% for all perrods expected life of two years “and

»cancelled in 2000 and 2001 respectlvely, asa result of the. resrgnatron ‘of the advrsory board members Accordlngly, ‘

optrons to acquire 1,000,000 ordinary shares’ remalned outstanding as of December 31, 2001 = = = s
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16 Stock Optron Plans (cont d)

2000 Stock Option Plan .
Accordlng to a resolution of the board of directors of the Company in 2000, the 1999 Stock Option Plan was
S r_ep,laced by the 2000 Stock Option Plan.

I Az ol s R P S-S SO

. :'Acclording to a resolution of the‘ boardot dlrectorsof theCompany in 2001, the 2000 stock option plan was'
amended and restated Under the amended plan, the number of ordinary shares available for issuance was increased -
. from- 223 71 5 OOO under the pnor plan to 323,715,000 The amended plan also included a mechanism for the -
automatrc increase in- the ‘number of. ordmary\shares avallable for future |ssuance This mechanism, which is known_

" as "Evergreen Provrsron ~ rovrded for a perrodlc mcrease S0 that the' number of ordrnary shares available under the

LT plan ould automatic y. lncrease by three percent (3%) each year up ‘to a maximum at any given time of 17.5% of

the Company s-total outstandmg ordlnary shares, on a fuIIy dlluted basis. These |ncreases would occur on June 1 of
2001 and january 10of each year thereafter The ”Evergreen Provrsron" has been suspended pursuant to a resolutron .
of the board of drrectors dated’ ‘March 25, 2002 o ' '

Dunng the year ended December 31, 2000 the Company granted options.to acquire a total of 64,720, 000 ordlnary' .
- shares to the Company s employees at an exercise price ranging from US$0.063 to US$0.156 per share. Options for
those employees who. ]omed the Group in 1999 vest over a period of three years beginning with the completron of
the second full year of service by the respectrve employees Optlons for other employees vest over a period of four

years begrnmng with the completion of: one full year from the date of grant

out of the options granted to employees in’ 2000 optrons to acqurre 21, 755, 000 and 17,350,000 ordrnary sharesi’ l
were cancelled in 2000 and ZOOl respectlvely, asa result of: the re5|gnatron of certain employees. Options to
acquire 25,61 5 000- ordmary shares remalned outstandrng as at’ December 31, 2001 ‘ ‘

Durmg the year. ended December 31 2001 the Company granted optlons to acquu’e a.total of_‘
24,059,000 ordrnary shares to the Company s-employees at.an- exercise price of approx1mately
Us$0.022 per share. These. Optrons Wlll vest over a penod of four years begrnnlng with the completron of one full

year from the date of grant

Out of the optlons granted to employees in 2001 optlons to acquire 9,366,000 ordinary shares were cancelled in .
2001 as a result of the resignation of certarn employees Options to acqurre 14, 693 000 ordrnary shares remained -
outstanding as at December 31, 2001. "

Senior management
During the year erided December 31, 2000, the Company granted optrons to acquire a total of i
163,424,300 ordinary shares to certaln new members of the Company s senior management at exercise prices
ranging from US$0.043 to US$0. 156 per share. These options generally vest over a period of three to four years
beginning with the completion. of one full year from (i) February 1 2000, (i) the date of employment or (iii) the date
of offer of employment. The compensation costs were calculated based upon the estimated fair value of the Company s
ordinary shares ranging from US$0.03 per share to US$0.156 per share durlng the period from February to December
2000.
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16. Stock Option Plans (cont’d)
2000 Stock Option Plan (cont'd) —

Senior management (cont’d) ‘
Out of the options granted to senior managementin 2000, options to acquire 33,600,000 and 92,218,800 ordinary
shares were cancelled in 2000 and 2001, respectively, as a result of the resignation of certain members of the
Company’s senior management. .Options to acqu1re 37,605, 500 ordinary shares remained outstanding as at December
31 2001. ’ ’

-During the year ended December 31 2001 the. Company also granted options to acqurre a total of 92,225, 000-
ordmary shares to certarn members of the Company s senior management at exercise prices rangmg from US$0. 006‘ L

o US$0: 155 per share. -

Out of the options granted to senror management in 2001, optrons to acqwre 54,175, 000 ordinary shares were '’

cancelled in 2001 as a result of the resugnatron of certam riembers of the: Companys senior management Optrons BT

to acquire 38,050,000 ordlnary shares remalned outstandrng asat December 31, 2001.

Director and consultants : ; . : ,
‘During ‘the year ended’ December 31, 2000 the Company granted options to acquire a total of “i ‘
1,200,000 ordinary shares to a dlrector and optrons to acquire a total of 850,000 ordinary shares to two consultants. -
These options generally vest over a ‘period of tworyears beginning on February 1, 2000. The exercise price of these‘ .
options is US$0.100 per share. Deferred compensation costs related to these option grants to the director and two' ‘
consultants in 2000 were approxrmately RMB1.5 million. The estimated fair value of the optlons granted: to. the..:
director and the consultants was estrmated on the date of grant using the Black- Scholes option pricing model. The
following assumptlons were used for the grants: nsk free. interest rate of 2.97%; estlmated fair value of US$0. 10 per
ordinary share; expected drvrdend yleId of 0% for: alI penods expected life of five years and expected volatlllty of‘. '

155% for all penods P L ‘ '

L Of these grants to the d|rectors and the consultants optlons to acquire 1,200, OOO and 700, 000 ordinary shares,
' ”respectlvely, remalned outstandmg as at December 31 2001. Options to acqurre 150 000 ordlnary shares. granted ‘

to one: consultant were cancelled in 2000 asa result of the re5|gnat|on of that consultant
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2000 Stock Optron Plan (cont'd)

Advrsory board
’I'»In June:2000, the’ Company granted options to acqurre a total of 1,500,000 ordlnary shares to a member of the
- sCompany’s advisory board at an exercise price of US$O 155 per share. These options vest over a two year period

. commencmg from the date of grant Deferred compensatlon costs related to these optlon grants was approxrmately

aaddi’tlo_n; |n"ATigu‘s ‘20(0,0,' e‘ Company granted optlons to acqurre a, total of 2 OOO OOO ordlnary shares to the same

advrsory board member at an exercrse price of US$O 05. per share to replace the 1,500, OOO shares of option granted
‘ |n ]une 2000 The terms of the new granrs were the same. as: those of the grants made in lune 2000 In this connection; ’

the optlons to acqurre l~500 000’ ordrnary shares gran "d i lune 2000 were modufred and therefore the modrflcatlon

was subject to an addltlon

Sk

,':date of grant usmg the Black Scholes optlon prlcrng model The followmg assumptlons were used for the grants

risk-free interest rate of 2. 97%, estimated fair value of US$0 05 per ordlnary share expected dividend yield of 0% for ‘
' all perrods expected life of five. years and expected volatlllty of 155%

e e g e e e
TR e ;

All the above options were cancelled in 2000 and 2001 (3, 250 000 in 2000 and 250, 000 in 2001 respectively) as a

result of the resignation:of the adwsory board member

In- connectlon with all. the above optron grants to the employees senior. management directors, consultants ‘and ’

adwsory board members in 2000; the Company recorded deferred share compensatlon costs of approxrmately

"RMB48 5 million in 2000 and nil' in 2007, which-were to be amortrzed and. charged to expense starting from the
grant date -and through the end of the vestmg perlods of the underlylng optrons ‘ '

In 2001 approxrmately RMBl 5 mllllon (2000 RMBl 3 8 mllllon) of the deferred compensatlon costs were amortrzed '

- reversed agalnst the addltlonal pald in capltal as a result f.t

directors and advisory board members

The fair value of the optlons granted to.non- employees of the Company, mcludmg advrsory board members
_consultants, and directors, was re-measured as.at December 3l 2001 according to EITF96-18. The re- measurement.v 5
resulted in a decrease in the deferred compensation costs of approxnmately RMBO.1 million. The balance of the |
deferred compensatlon costs as at December 31, 2001 amounted to. approxrmately RMB2 million. The service '
contracts entered into between the Company and those non employees generally do not subject the service prov1der ,
to a significant penalty if the provider does not complete the: contracted service and.there are no other srgnlflcant

- disincentives for non- performance Therefore these arrangements do not constitute a performance commitment.

" The following assumptlons were used in the re- measurement risk-free interest rate of 3.14%; estimated fair value of
US$0.01 per ordinary share; expected dividend yreld of 0% for all periods; expected life of two to five years; and
expected volatility of 121.82%. According to EITF96-1 8, variable accounting will be applied until the relating
performance is completed. ' o
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-16.Stock Option Plans (cont’d)

2000 Stock Option Plan (cont’'d)

information relating to stock options outstanding is-as follows:

Outstandlng at begmnmg of
penod '

" Granted

Cancelled

Outstandfng at period end

For the year ended December 31,

1999 2000 2001

‘ We|ghted ~ Weighted Weighted

Options oo average ”,Options ' average Options average '
o_utSta_n,din_g( exerase pnce butstandih’g exercise price  outstanding exercise price‘ ‘

uss Cuss LSS

IS '-f 121,960,000 . 0.065 248,901,100 0.091

121,960,000 ° © - 0065 233,694,300 10.105 116,284,000 0.017
P - (106 753 200) 0,091 (228,755,100) ~  0.064 -
121,960,000 . - 40.06’5 248,901,100 0.091 136,430,000 0.074

As of December 31, 2001, options to purchase 66;845;"7'49 ordinary shares were exercisable. Under the stock optien

plans, options to purchase 399,561,668 ordinary shares were available for future grant. The fair value of ordinary

" shares on the dates of stock option grants was’ determmed by management based on the recent issuance of preference :

shares, consideration of s;gnn‘:cant mllestones achneved by the Group and other market considerations. Optlons,‘ :

outstandlng and exercisable by price range as of. December 31, 2001 were as follows:

‘faaf""b("jfi‘tfibrf{s”outstan_ding at

December 31, 2001

Options exercisable at -

December 31,2001 ... 5

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Staternents

" Weighted ‘ S
""""" '_aVerEQe Weighted Weighited "
‘ remaining . ‘ave'rage ayérége» .
» » Nufrﬁ_be_r ‘contractual - exercise Number exercise ©
ExercnsePrlce : MQ\Vutstaeding » llfe (Years) prlce (US$) .exercisable = price (U'S$i) X
© - US$0.006 20,000,000 9.92 0.006 11,667,111 0.006
CTHUS$0.016 15,050,000 917" 0.016 8,777,160 0.016
. Us$0.022 Teg93000 T Ts0sTT 0022 - 0.022
US$0.050 T 7 7 =7 78,000,000 7 B67 T 1T 0.050. 4,665,600 - - :0.050
"UTUSS0i065% T it 117131500 . 033 0065 17,131,500 10065
US$0.070 - US$0.075 T o378 L 10,0730 21,935,000 10,071
~ Us$0.100 20,195,000 4.17 0100 5672250 0700
US$0.155-US$0.156 35,925,500 7.25 0.156 16,997,128 0.156
136,430,000 626 0.074 66,845,749 0.074
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' ___1~6'.‘,St,:o'ck Optioh~--Plans (cont'd)
2000 Stock Option Plan (cont’d)
o For the purposes of SFAS 123 pro forma disclosures, the estimated fair value of each senior management or employee

--option- grantis estimated’on.the date of grant. usmg the Black Scholes optlon pricing method with the following

* i - -l c.assumptions:

Forltht_a yearen_ded Décerhber 31,

C 1999 - 2000 2001

2 97% - 3 30% Co2 50% - 3 30%'[':‘ 2.97% - 3.30%

h RlSk free lnterest rate _ . ‘
Welghted average estimated falr value (USS) " ‘ PR 006 - 0128 - - 1 0.085

Expected lfe (inyears) A T [ 52100 5210
_ Expected: d|V|dend yleld B 0% ‘:* . 0% i 0%
- Volatlllty 0% 142%-155%  122%—155%

, T Had the compensation costs forthe plans been determmed based on the estimated falr value of the optlons at the ,
grant dates for awards under the plan, the Group s net loss and net loss per ordlnary share on’ a pro. forma basis for
the years ended December 31 1999 12000 and 2001 would have been as follows:

1999 2000 2001
‘Net loss: . S
As reported (51,974,253) " (169,268,799). (233,163,914)
Pro forma (52,965,737)  (169,891,681) (241,221,654)
Basic and diluted net loss per ordinary share: »
As reported ’ (0.03) - (0.07) (0.08)
Pro forma (0.03) (0.07) (0.08)
17. Commitments and Contingencies
Commitments
As of December 31, 2001, future minimum lease commitments were as follows:
Office rental Server custody fee Total
2002 6,948,066 11,298,200 18,246,266
2003 1,939,816 - 1,939,816
2004 1,290,441 - 1,290,441
Total 10,178,323 11,298,200 21,476,523
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17. Commitments and Contingencies (cont’d)

Commitments (cont’ d) B

In the years ended December 31, 1999, 2000 and 2001, the Company incurred rental expenses in the amounts of
approximately RMBO.4 million, RMB6.9 million and RMB8.8 million, respectively.

Insurance coverage

As of December 31, 2001, the Group had insurance on its property, equipment and software of approxrmately
RMB22 million. ‘

thugatlon
Beglnnrng in October 2001 four substantlally ldentlcal purported class action complalnts alleging violations of the:
_federal securities laws were flled in the Unrted States District Court for the Southern District of New York naming the-
Company, certain of its currént and former officers and drrectors and the underwnters of the Company’s initial . »
public offering as defendants. To date the complalnts have not been consolidated |nto a single action. The above |
lawsuits seek certification as a class actlon to represent those persons who purchased the Company s ADS during the -
penod from ]uly 3, 2000 to August 31, 2001. In general, the complaints allege, among other things, that: (l) the ‘
Company's initial pubhc offerlng violated the securities laws because the financial statements accompanyrng the
offering’s reglstratron statement misstated the Company’s revenue; and (i) the Company committed securltres
fraud by matenally misstating the Companys revenue in its 2000 financial statements. At the present tlme the
Company cannot estimate what damages, if any, may. be payable in connection with this ||trgat|on The ultrmate
resolution of this matter may have a material adverse impact on the results of operations in the period in Wthh rt is®

resolved.
18. Subsequent Events:

Sale of an lnvestment in convertlble preference shares 7

-

According to a board resolutron dated Mareh 14, 2002 and agreement entered into between the Company and a

pnvate auctlon company dated March 18, 2002 (see Note 8), the private, auction company repurchased from the

f’-zCompany aII of the 705, 816 preference shares the Company acquired in 2000 at a consrderatlon of

: New shares issued

c Accordlng to a board resolution dated January 23, 2002, the Company agreed to make certain stock purchase
e "<_‘l".payments in cash to two newly hired members Gf sénior management of the Company in order to enable them to
* purchase a total of 12,322,868 ordrnary shares in the Company. The total estimated fair value of those shares of
- RMBO.7. million (vaiued at Us$0. 006492 per share) at the date of the agreement is recognized as deferred

. ' . § compensatlon which is to'bé amortrzed over the related vesting period.
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CORPORATE HEADQUARTERS'

NetEase.com, Inc.

» 15th Floor, North Tower, Beijing Kerry Center,

No.1, Guanghua Road, Chaoyang District,
Beijing 100020, P.R.China~

" NetEase Shanghai Office

33/F, Harbour Ring Plaza
No.18, XiZang Road, -(rp)

Shanghai 200007, PR.China

- NetEﬁégéCuéHginU‘C‘)(ffice
36/F Peace World Plaza

No.362-366 Huan Shi Dong Road
Guangzhou 510060, P.R.China

NetEase Silicon Valley Office
39899 Balentine Drive #230
Newark, CA 94569, USA

INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS
Arthur Andersen  Hua Qiang CPAs
1118 China World Tower 1

Jiao Guo Men Wei Avenue

Beijing 100004, P.R.China
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Morrison & Foerster
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30 Queen’s Road Central
Hong Kong
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101 Barclay Street
New York NY 10286
USA
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VIP email, corporate email and free email

Search Engme _ -
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